# ESTIMATION ERROR AND THE SPECIFICATION OF UNOBSERVED COMPONENT MODELS

Agustín Maravall and Christophe Planas

Banco de España - Servicio de Estudios Documento de Trabajo nº 9608

# ESTIMATION ERROR AND THE SPECIFICATION OF UNOBSERVED COMPONENT MODELS

Agustín Maravall (\*) and Christophe Planas (\*\*)

(\*) Banco de España. (\*\*) Eurostat.

> Banco de España - Servicio de Estudios Documento de Trabajo nº 9608

In publishing this series the Banco de España seeks to disseminate studies of interest that will help acquaint readers better with the Spanish economy.

The analyses, opinions and findings of these papers represent the views of their authors; they are not necessarily those of the Banco de España.

> ISSN: 0213-2710 ISBN: 84-7793-463-0 Depósito legal: M-9881-1996 Imprenta del Banco de España

#### Abstract

The paper deals with the problem of identifying stochastic unobserved twocomponent models, as in seasonal adjustment or trend-cycle decompositions. Solutions based on the properties of the unobserved component estimation error are considered, and analytical expressions for the variances and covariances of the different types of estimation errors (errors in the final, preliminary, and concurrent estimator and in the forecast) are obtained for any admissible decomposition. These expressions are relatively simple and straightforwardly derived from the ARIMA model for the observed series.

It is shown that, in all cases, the estimation error variance is minimized at a canonical decomposition (i.e., at a decomposition with one of the components noninvertible), and a procedure to determine that decomposition is presented. On occasion, however, the most precise final estimator is obtained at a canonical decomposition different from the one that yields the most precise preliminary estimator.

Three examples illustrate the results and the computational algorithms. The first and second examples are based on the so-called Structural Time Series Model and ARIMA Model Based approaches, respectively. The third example is a class of models often encountered in actual time series:

Key words: Seasonal Adjustment: Unobserved Component Models; Signal Extraction; ARIMA Models; Identification; Estimation Error

# Contents

- 0 Introduction and Summary
- 1 The Model
- 2 Identification of the Model

#### 3 MMSE Estimators and Their Properties

- 3.1 Optimal Estimators of the Components
- 3.2 Covariance Between Estimators
- 3.3 The Error in the Component Estimator
- 4 Historical Estimation Error and Admissible Decompositions
- 5 Preliminary Estimation Error, Revisions, and Admissible Decompositions
- 6 Forecasts
- 7 Examples
  - 7.1 Trend-plus-Cycle Model
  - 7.2 Quarterly ARIMA Model
  - 7.3 The "Airline Model"

#### Appendix

### References

# 0 Introduction and Summary

We consider the problem of decomposing an observed series into the sum of two uncorrelated components, each one the output of a linear stochastic process, which can be parametrized as an ARIMA model. Thus the basic model (presented in Section 1) is that of an observed ARIMA model with unobserved ARIMA components. Examples are the seasonally adjusted series plus seasonal component decomposition of economic series, the trend-plus-cycle decomposition often used in business cycle analysis, and, in general, signal-plus-noise type of decompositions. The analysis centers on Minimum Mean Squared Error (MMSE) estimators of the unobserved components.

It is well known that the general unobserved components model presents an important identification problem, which stems from the fact that, for a given series, there is in general an amount of white-noise variation that can be arbitrarily allocated between the two components (see, for example, Bell and Hillmer, 1984; or Watson, 1987). This identification problem is discussed in Section 2. Broadly speaking, two main approaches have been developed. In one of them, the overall ARIMA model for the observed series is specified following the standard Box and Jenkins (1970) procedure, and the models for the components are derived from the overall model. This approach has been termed the "ARIMA-Model-Based" (AMB) approach; it has been mostly developed in the context of seasonal adjustment, and basic references are Burman (1980) and Hillmer and Tiao (1982). The second approach directly specifies the models for the components; it has been termed "Structural Time Series Model" (STSM) approach and basic references are Engle (1978) and Harvey (1989). This approach has been heavily used in applied econometrics work.

The applied relevance of AMB methods for seasonal adjustment (and trend estimation), even in very large-scale applications, has increased considerably as of lately. In particular, the European statistical Agency (EUROSTAT) is at present, as a result of a study comparing alternative methods (see Fisher, 1995), using, and recommending the use of, a fully AMB method (namely, program SEATS; see EUROSTAT, 1994). Furthermore, the new US Bureau of the Census program, X12, is an hybrid, which now incorporates many AMB features (see Bureau of the Census, 1995), or Findley and Monsell, 1995).

In this paper, the analysis will apply in general to model-based methods, independently of whether they employ an STSM or an AMB approach. The assumptions used to identify a unique decomposition are, in the STSM approach, to restrict the order of the moving average polynomial in the component models, and, in the AMB approach, to assign all possible noise to one of the components, so as to make the other one noninvertible. In this last case, the decomposition is termed "canonical", and the associated noise-free component, a canonical component.

Be that as it may, the fact remains that there is no universally accepted criterion to reach identification in unobserved component models, and the properties of the different admissible decompositions have not been much explored. In this paper, we analyse some of these properties, mostly in connection with the components estimation error. Burridge and Wallis (1985) within the STSM approach, and Hillmer (1985) within the ABM approach, have provided algorithms for computing the variance of the components estimation error. In this paper, an alternative approach, close to the one in Watson (1987), is followed, which permits us to obtain simple analytical expressions for the variances of the components estimation error for different admissible decompositions.

When choosing between two admissible decompositions that only differ in the allocation of white noise to the components, one relevant consideration could be the precision of the associated estimators. There are, however, several types of estimators, depending on the available information. For periods close to the end of the series, preliminary estimators have to be used, which will be revised as new observations become available, until the final or historical estimator is obtained. Since it seems reasonable that an agency producing seasonally adjusted data, for example, would like to provide historical series as precise as possible, we begin by considering (Sections 3 and 4) the historical estimator.

Several properties of the historical estimator and its associated error are derived. In particular, it is shown that the crosscovariance-generating function between the estimators of the two components is identical to the autocovariance-generating function of each component estimation error. Thus the admissible decomposition that minimizes the components estimation error minimizes also the covariance between the two component estimators. Given that the components are assumed orthogonal, this feature seems an additional desirable property of the decomposition that provides the most precise estimator.

For a given overall ARIMA model, the different admissible decompositions can be expressed as a function of a parameter  $\alpha$  in the unit interval. The two extreme values,  $\alpha = 0$  and  $\alpha = 1$ , correspond to the two possible canonical decompositions, each one associated with noninvertibility of one of the components. Section 4 expresses the variance of the final estimation error as a second-order polynomial in  $\alpha$ , where the coefficients can be determined from the overall ARIMA model. The decomposition that yields the most precise component estimators is derived and it is shown that it will always be a canonical one. Which of the two canonical decompositions it happens to be depends on the stochastic properties of the series, and a simple algorithm to determine which component should be made canonical is provided. Heuristically, the rule can be interpreted as making noninvertible the most stable of the two components (i.e., adding all noise to the most stochastic component).

In Sections 5 and 6 the results are extended to any preliminary estimator and to forecasts of the components. The estimation error is, in this case, equal to the sum of the error in the historical estimator plus the so-called revision error. Since, for an agency involved in short-term policy, minimizing the error in the measurement of the signal for the most recent period seems an important feature, special attention is paid to the error in the concurrent estimator of the components. It is seen how, for all

preliminary estimators, the variance of the estimation error is a polynomial of degree 2 in  $\alpha$ , with coefficients that are straightforward to derive from the overall ARIMA model; furthermore, this variance is always minimized at a canonical decomposition.

Which one of the two canonical decompositions it is can be determined from the following rule, which applies to historical as well as to preliminary estimation: Specify each component in its canonical form and consider the MMSE estimation filter for the component at time t. Let  $\nu_0$  denote the coefficient of  $x_t$  in this filter. If the component with smallest  $\nu_0$  weight is made canonical, then the estimation error variance (for both components) is minimized; i.e. all noise is then assigned to the component with the largest weight. Thus, if interest centers on having the most precise historical estimator,  $\nu_0$  denotes the central weight of the WK filter. If, alternatively, the most precise concurrent estimator is sought,  $\nu_0$  denotes the first weight of the one-sided filter. More generally, if interest centers on minimizing the error of the estimator of the component for time t, computed at time (t + k), then  $\nu_0$  is the weight of  $x_t$  in the truncated filter (i.e., the filter that extends up to  $x_{t+k}$ ).

It will often be the case that the same canonical decomposition minimizes the variance of the different types of estimators and, broadly, that decomposition will be the one with the most stable component made noninvertible. There are, however, cases, when the components have similar degrees of stability, where the solutions "switch" and, for example, one of the canonical decompositions yields the most precise final estimator, while the other one yields the most precise concurrent estimator. Still, the switching of solutions is seen to happen when the estimation error variances for the two canonical decompositions are relatively close, and hence the choice matters little.

Three examples are discussed in Section 6. The first one is a "trend-plus-cycle" model similar to the ones used by economists in business-cycle analysis. The second example is a quarterly ARIMA model; these two examples illustrate the derivation of the estimation error variances from the parameters of the "observed" model within the STSM and the AMB approaches. The third example consists of a class of models that are often found to approximate reasonably well the stochastic properties of many series: the so-called Airline Model of Box and Jenkins (1970, chapter 9). This example extends the results in Hillmer (1985), and presents some stylized facts often found in actual time series.

## 1 The Model

We consider the problem of decomposing an observed series  $x_t$  into two Unobserved Components,  $s_t$  and  $n_t$ , as in

$$x_t = s_t + n_t \tag{1.1}$$

The two components are the output of the linear stochastic processes

$$\phi_s(B) \ s_t = \theta_s(B) \ a_{st}, \tag{1.2.a}$$

$$\phi_n(B) \ n_i = \theta_n(B) \ a_{nt}, \tag{1.2.b}$$

where  $\phi_{\bullet}(B)$  denotes a finite polynomial in the lag operator B, having all roots on or outside the unit circle. Letting  $\delta_{\bullet}(B)$  represent the stationary transformation of the component, we shall also use the representation

$$\phi_s(B) = \varphi_s(B) \,\delta_s(B); \quad \phi_n(B) = \varphi_n(B) \,\delta_n(B), \tag{1.3}$$

where  $\varphi_{\bullet}(B)$  contains the roots outside the unit circle and  $\delta_{\bullet}(B)$  contains the unit roots. Finally,  $\theta_{\bullet}(B)$  denotes a finite polynomial in B with the roots on or outside the unit circle. The model consists of equation (1.1)–(1.2) and some additional assumptions.

**Assumption 1**: The variables  $a_{st}$  and  $a_{nt}$  are independent normally distributed whitenoise innovations in the components.

Assumption 1 implies, of course, that the two components are uncorrelated. Important examples of the decomposition (1.1) are the "trend + detrended series" decomposition often used in business cycle analysis, where the trend may be a random walk and the detrended series a low-order stationary process, and the "seasonal component + seasonally adjusted series" decomposition, where the seasonal component is often modeled as

$$U(B) s_t = \theta_s(B) a_{st}, \tag{1.4}$$

with U(B) the nonstationary "seasonal" polynomial  $U(B) = 1 + B + ... + B^{\tau-1}$  ( $\tau$  denotes the number of observations per year), and the seasonally adjusted series is given by a process of the type:

$$\nabla^d \mathbf{n}_t = \theta_n(B) a_{nt}, \tag{1.5}$$

with d typically 1 or 2. Since, as the examples illustrate, each component is basically characterized by its autoregressive (AR) roots, AR roots associated with different frequencies should be allocated to different components. Thus we specify the following assumption, which also avoids redundant roots in the polynomials of (1.2.a) and (1.2.b).

**Assumption 2**: The polynomials  $\phi_s(B)$  and  $\phi_n(B)$  share no root in common. The same holds true for the polynomials  $\phi_s(B)$  and  $\theta_s(B)$ , and for the polynomials  $\phi_n(B)$  and  $\theta_n(B)$ .

Equations (1.1) and (1.2), and Assumptions 1 and 2 imply that the observed series  $x_t$  follows the general ARIMA process

$$\phi(B) x_t = \theta(B) a_t. \tag{1.6}$$

The AR polynomial  $\phi(B)$  is given by

$$\phi(B) = \phi_s(B) \phi_n(B), \tag{1.7}$$

and hence it can also be factorized as  $\varphi(B)$   $\delta(B)$ , with  $\varphi(B) = \varphi_s(B) \varphi_n(B)$ , and  $\delta(B) = \delta_s(B) \delta_n(B)$ , so that  $\delta(B)$  denotes the stationarity-inducing transformation for  $x_t$ . The Moving Average (MA) part,  $\theta(B) a_t$ , is determined by the identity:

$$\theta(B) \ a_t = \phi_n(B) \ \theta_s(B) \ a_{st} + \phi_s(B) \ \theta_n(B) \ a_{nt}, \tag{1.8}$$

and the constraint that the roots of  $\theta(B)$  lie on or outside the unit circle. Although not strictly needed, for convenience, we shall introduce the following assumption.

#### **Assumption 3**: The polynomial $\theta(B)$ is invertible.

In the next section we shall see that Assumption 3 implies no loss of generality. Also without loss of generality, and unless otherwise specified, throughout the paper it will be assumed that  $V_a = 1$ , where  $V_a$  is the variance of  $a_t$  in (1.6). It should be kept in mind, thus, that the innovation variances  $V_s$  and  $V_n$  will be implicitly expressed as a fraction of  $V_a$ . Let  $F = B^{-1}$  denote the forward operator; it will prove useful to define the inverse (or dual) model of (1.6), given by

$$\theta(B) z_t = \phi(B) a_t. \tag{1.9}$$

Under Assumption 3, model (1.9) is stationary, with Autocovariance Generating Function (ACGF) given by

$$h(B,F) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} h_j (B^j + F^j) = \pi(B) \pi(F), \qquad (1.10)$$

where  $\pi(B)$  contains the coefficients of the AR expansion of (1.6), that is

$$\pi(B) = \phi(B)/\theta(B) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \pi_j B^j, \quad (\pi_0 = 1).$$
(1.11)

Notice that the variance of the inverse process is given by

$$h_0 = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \pi_j^2.$$
 (1.12)

# 2 Identification of the Model

Having observations on  $x_t$ , model (1.6) can be identified from the data. For the rest of the discussion, we shall assume that the ARIMA model for  $x_t$  is known. Given this overall model, there is obviously an infinite number of ways of decomposing  $x_t$  as in (1.1)–(1.2) under Assumptions 1–3.

If the only identification restrictions that are considered are restrictions in the orders of the polynomials of (1.2), then the necessary and sufficient condition for model identification is that, for at least one of the components, the order of the AR polynomial be larger than the order of the MA polynomial; see Hotta (1989). Thus, letting  $p_s, p_n, q_s$ , and  $q_n$  denote the orders of the polynomials  $\phi_s(B), \phi_n(B), \theta_s(B)$ , and  $\theta_n(B)$ , respectively, under

**Assumption 4a**: 
$$p_s > q_s$$
 or  $p_n > q_n$  (or both),

the model consisting of equations (1.1)-(1.2) and Assumptions 1, 2, and 3, is identified.

Be that as it may, one may question whether zero-coefficient restrictions are the most adequate ones. To illustrate the point, we consider a simple UC model similar to the ones used in business cycle analysis (see, for example, Stock and Watson, 1988). The observed (annual) series is the sum of a trend component,  $s_t$ , and a detrended series,  $n_t$ , where the trend is the random-walk process

$$\nabla s_t = a_{st}, \tag{2.1.a}$$

and the detrended series is the stationary ARMA(1, 1) model

$$(1 + .7B) n_t = (1 + .2B) a_{nt}.$$
(2.1.b)

(Since (2.1.a) satisfies Assumption 4a, for a particular observed series  $x_t = s_t + n_t$ , the model would be identified.) Direct inspection of (2.1.b) shows that the detrended series consists of a stationary cyclical behavior (with period 2) and some random noise. Assumptions 1-3 are assumed to hold, and the equations in (2.1) imply that the observed series  $x_t$  can be seen as the output of the ARIMA (1, 1, 2) process:

$$(1+.7B) \nabla x_t = \theta(B) a_t. \tag{2.2}$$

Setting, for our example,  $V_s = 5V_n$ , it is easily found that  $\theta(B) = (1 + .364B - .025B^2)$ . For a time series generated by (2.1), Figures 1a and 1b display the two components, and Figures 2a and 2b exhibit the spectra of  $x_t$  and of the two components, which we shall represent as  $g_x(\omega)$ ,  $g_s(\omega)$ , and  $g_n(\omega)$ , with  $\omega$  being the frequency in radians. (To simplify terminology, "spectrum" will also denote the pseudospectrum of nonstationary series; see Harvey, 1989.) Figure 2b shows that  $g_s(\omega)$  has a minimum for  $\omega = \pi$ , which is found to be equal to  $g_s(\pi) = V_s/4$ . It follows that if a white-noise component  $u_t$ , with variance  $V_u$  in the interval  $[0, V_s/4]$ , is removed from  $s_t$  and added to  $n_t$ , the resulting components also provide an acceptable decomposition of  $x_t$ . The only difference would be that the new  $s_t$  component would be smoother, while  $n_t$  would now be noisier, as evidenced in Figures 1c and 1d for the case  $V_u = V_s/5$ .

In general, if white noise with variance  $0 \leq V_u \leq V_s/4$  is removed from  $s_t$  and assigned to  $n_t$ , it is straightforward to find that the new  $s_t$  and  $n_t$  components follow processes of the type:

$$\nabla s_t = (1 + \theta_s B) a_{st} \tag{2.3.a}$$

$$(1+.7B) n_t = (1+\theta_n B) a_{nt}, \qquad (2.3.b)$$

For a given model (2.2) for the observed series, different decompositions of the type (2.3) would provide admissible decompositions that would differ in the way the noise contained in the series is allocated to the two components.

Consider an analyst interested in whatever is in the series that cannot be attributed to the trend. He wishes, thus, to remove the trend and nothing but the trend. He will, consequently, avoid adding noise to the trend component, and would choose the decomposition for which  $V_u$  is equal to its maximum value  $V_s/4$ . (Identification of unobserved components by using the "minimum extraction" principle was first proposed by Box, Hillmer, and Tiao, 1978; and Pierce, 1978.) The spectra of the two components in this case are given in Figures 2c and 2d, where they are compared to the spectra of the components in Figure 1. Since the requirement that it should not be possible to decompose  $s_t$  into a smoother component plus white noise implies that  $g_s(\pi) = 0$ , and since the time domain equivalent of this spectral zero is the presence of the factor (1 + B) in the MA part of the component model,  $s_t$  will follow the noninvertible model

$$\nabla s_t = (1+B) a_{st},$$

and the model for  $n_t$  will be as in (2.3.b).

Alternatively, a similar type of reasoning may lead to the transfer of noise from  $n_t$  to  $s_t$ . Assume, for example, that model (2.2) holds for a time series observed with a twice-a-year frequency. Then model (2.3.b) represents a seasonal component and, if interest centers on the seasonally adjusted series, one may wish to remove from the series as little as possible, and hence the chosen decomposition would consist of a noninvertible seasonal component  $n_i$ , with  $g_n(0) = 0$ , and an invertible seasonally adjusted series  $s_t$ . As a consequence, the seasonal component would follow the model

$$(1+.7B) n_t = (1-B) a_{nt}$$

and the model for  $s_t$  would be as in (2.3.a). Therefore, the minimum extraction requirement yields two canonical solutions, both of which can be easily justified; each one is characterized by noninvertibility of one of the two components.

Back to the general case of (1.2), assume, in general, that  $s_t$  is an invertible and identified component (i.e.,  $p_s > q_s$ ). Then, a white-noise component can be removed from  $s_t$  and assigned to  $n_t$ . It is easily seen that the new model for  $s_t$  has  $p_s = q_s$ ; thus we replace Assumption 4a with the more general one

**Assumption 4b**: 
$$p_s \ge q_s$$
 or  $p_n \ge q_n$  (or both).

For a given ARIMA model for the observed variable, the class of admissible decompositions is given by the pair of components  $s_t$  and  $n_t$  satisfying (1.1), (1.2), (1.7), (1.8), and Assumptions 1, 2, 3, and 4b. We require, of course, nonnegative spectra  $g_s(\omega)$  and  $g_n(\omega)$ . In the general case of an infinite number of admissible decompositions, identification of a unique model can then be reached with the following assumption:

**Assumption 5:** For  $\omega \in [0, \pi]$ , either min $g_s(\omega) = 0$  or min $g_n(\omega) = 0$  (or both).

Identification is, in this case, obtained by forcing a component to be noninvertible. Following Box, Hillmer, and Tiao (1978), a noninvertible component will be denoted a "canonical" component, and the associated decomposition, a canonical decomposition. Since the spectra of the components cannot be negative, in the two-component case there will be two canonical decompositions. One of them puts all additive white noise in the component  $n_t$ , the other one, in the component  $s_t$ . Any admissible decomposition can be seen as something in between, whereby some noise is allocated to  $n_t$  and some to  $s_t$ . Notice that, since no additive noise can be extracted from a noninvertible series, if the observed series is noninvertible, the decomposition (if there is one) is necessarily unique, with all components canonical, sharing the same spectral zero. In this case, no identification problem arises, and hence, for our purposes, Assumption 3 implies no loss of generality.

As shown in Hillmer and Tiao (1982), canonical components display some important features. In particular, any other admissible component is equal to the canonical one plus added noise, and hence the canonical requirement makes the component as smooth as possible. On the negative side, Maravall (1986) shows how canonical components can produce large revisions in the preliminary estimators of the component. Besides, the existence of two canonical solutions reflects some basic ambiguity concerning the desirable properties of a component. It seems reasonable, for example, that, in order to avoid noise-induced overreaction, the monetary authority may be interested in a smooth (noise-free) seasonally adjusted series. On the other hand, it sounds also reasonable that the analyst wishes to keep in the series everything but seasonality, in which case the seasonal component would be noise-free. Therefore, both canonical solutions could, in principle, be rationalized.

Some additional suggestions have been made to overcome uncertainty over which admissible decomposition should be chosen. For example, given that different admissible decompositions imply different properties of the estimators, to be on the safe side, Watson (1987) and Findley (1985) propose to select a "minimax" solution (i.e., the decomposition that maximizes the MSE of the MMSE estimators). Still, as a general rule, canonical components (i.e., Assumptions 4b and 5) are used in the AMB approach, while zero-coefficient restrictions (i.e., Assumption 4a) are used in the STSM approach and in econometric applications of UC models. Besides its simplicity, the choice may possibly reflect the tradition in econometrics of identifying models (in particular, simultaneous equation models) by using zero-coefficient restrictions (see, for example, Theil, 1971).

# **3** MMSE Estimators and Their Properties

#### 3.1 Optimal Estimators of the Components

We have mentioned that the properties of the component estimator will depend on the admissible decomposition selected. Our intention is to explore this dependence. In order to do that, we consider first the case of a complete realization of the process, i.e., the case of a series  $x_t$  with t going from  $-\infty$  to  $\infty$ . Let the series be stationary, and write (1.2) and (1.6) more compactly as

$$x_t = \psi(B) a_t;$$
  $s_t = \psi_s(B) a_{st};$   $n_t = \psi_n(B) a_{nt},$  (3.1)

where  $\psi(B) = \theta(B)/\phi(B)$ ,  $\psi_s(B) = \theta_s(B)/\phi_s(B)$ , and  $\psi_n(B) = \theta_n(B)/\phi_n(B)$ . The minimum Mean Squared Error (MSE) estimator of  $s_t$  is given by

$$\hat{s}_{t} = \nu(B, F) \ x_{t} = V_{s} \ \frac{\psi_{s}(B) \ \psi_{s}(F)}{\psi(B) \ \psi(F)} \ x_{t}, \tag{3.2}$$

where F is the forward operator  $F = B^{-1}$ ; see Whittle (1963). The symmetric and centered filter  $\nu(B, F)$  is the so-called Wiener-Kolmogorov (WK) filter. Letting  $A_j(B, F)$ denote the ACGF of component j,

$$A_j(B,F) = \psi_j(B) \ \psi_j(F) \ V_j, \qquad j = s, n,$$

and  $A_x(B, F) = \psi(B) \psi(F)$ , expression (3.2) can be rewritten

$$\hat{s}_t = [A_s(B, F)/A_x(B, F)] x_t.$$
 (3.3)

In terms of the AR and MA polynomials, after simplification, the WK filter can be expressed as:

$$\nu(B,F) = V_s \frac{\theta_s(B) \,\theta_s(F) \,\phi_n(B) \,\phi_n(F)}{\theta(B) \,\theta(F)} \tag{3.4}$$

Expression (3.4) shows that, under Assumption 3 (invertible observed series), the filter will be convergent, independently of the roots of the AR polynomials. The filter (3.4) in fact extends to nonstationary series, with unit roots in  $\phi_s(B)$  and/or  $\phi_n(B)$ ; see Bell (1984), and Maravall (1988). Direct inspection shows that the WK filter (3.4) is simply the ACGF of the model

$$\theta(B) \ z_t = \theta_s(B) \ \phi_n(B) \ b_t, \tag{3.5}$$

with  $b_t$  white noise with variance  $V_s$ . Since  $\theta(B)$  is invertible, the model is stationary and its ACGF will converge. The effect on the filter of different admissible decompositions will show up in the MA part of (3.5), through the polynomial  $\theta_s(B)$  and the variance  $V_s$ .

Unless the model for the series is a pure AR model, the filter (3.4) will extend from  $-\infty$  to  $\infty$ . Its convergence however guarantees that, in practice, it could be approximated by a finite filter, and it is generally the case that, for the usual series length, the estimator of the component for the central periods of the series can be safely seen as generated by the WK filter (3.4). This estimator, obtained with the complete filter, is often denoted "historical" or "final" estimator; it shall be the one of interest until Section 5.

#### 3.2 Covariance Between Estimators

It is a well-known result that minimum MSE estimators of orthogonal components yield estimators with nonzero crosscovariances. This discrepancy has been the cause of concern (see, for example, Nerlove, 1964; Granger, 1978; and Garcia Ferrer and Del Hoyo, 1992), and hence one could argue that another possible identification criterion could be to select, among the admissible decompositions, the one that minimizes the (lag-0) covariance between the estimators. This covariance is easily found from the following result (proofs of the results not derived in the text are in the Appendix).

**Lemma 1**: Let C(B, F) denote the CrossCovariance Generating Function (CCGF) for the two estimators  $\hat{s}_t$  and  $\hat{n}_t$ . Then C(B, F) is equal to the ACGF of the model

$$\theta(B) z_t = \theta_s(B) \theta_n(B) b_t, \tag{3.6}$$

where  $b_t$  is white noise with variance  $(V_s V_n)$ .

Lemma 1 implies that C(B, F) is symmetric and convergent. Since model (3.6) is stationary, all covariances will be finite. The variance of the model yields the lag-0 covariance between  $\hat{s}_t$  and  $\hat{n}_t$ ; this covariance, thus, will always be positive (and hence the variance of the estimator will always underestimate the variance of the component). However, the fact that the covariances between  $\hat{s}_t$  and  $\hat{n}_t$  are finite implies the following result.

**Lemma 2**: When the series  $x_t$  is nonstationary, the historical estimators  $\hat{s}_t$  and  $\hat{n}_t$  are uncorrelated.

For nonstationary series (the case of applied interest) minimum MSE estimation of the components preserves, thus, the orthogonality assumption, and, for example, the statement in García Ferrer and Del Hoyo (1992) that "whereas the theoretical components are uncorrelated, the estimators will be correlated in general" is only correct for stationary series. Further, it is easily found from (A.1) and (A.2), and the equivalent expressions for  $n_t$ , that, although the estimators  $\hat{s}_t$  and  $\hat{n}_t$  are uncorrelated, certain linear combinations of them — namely, the stationary transformations  $\delta_s(B)$   $\hat{s}_t$  and  $\delta_n(B)$   $\hat{n}_t$  — are correlated.

It is worth pointing out an interesting feature of the estimators of nonstationary trend and seasonal components. Although both are nonstationary series which, moreover, cannot be cointegrated (since the unit AR roots are different), they display stationary crosscovariances. Thus, the two estimators diverge in time, each one with a nonstationary variance, but their crosscovariances remain constant.

Back to the covariance between the component estimators, model (3.6) shows that different admissible decomposition would affect its MA part, through  $\theta_s(B)$ ,  $\theta_n(B)$ ,  $V_s$ and  $V_n$ . But before we look at which admissible decomposition minimizes the covariance between the estimators, let us turn our attention to another possibly desirable feature of the estimators.

#### **3.3** The Error in the Component Estimator

The error in the UC estimator depends on the particular admissible decomposition selected. Since the data do not discriminate among admissible decompositions, the selection of a particular one reflects a choice of the analyst. In the absence of a compelling reason to select a particular noise allocation, why not choose the one that provides the

most precise estimators? Since the error in  $\hat{s}_t$  is equal to that in  $\hat{n}_t$ , minimizing both estimation errors seems an attractive feature of the selected model.

To see the dependence of the estimation error on the admissible decomposition chosen, we use the following Lemma, which is an application of Theorem 3 in Pierce (1979), for the case  $\delta_c(B) = 1$  and  $V_a = 1$ .

**Lemma 3**: Let  $e_t$  denote the estimation error  $e_t = s_t - \hat{s}_t = \hat{n}_t - n_t$ . Then  $e_t$  can be seen as the output of the ARMA model

$$\theta(B) \ e_t = \theta_s(B) \ \theta_n(B) \ d_t, \tag{3.7}$$

where  $d_t$  is a white noise with variance  $(V_s V_n)$ .

**Lemma 4**: The ACGF of  $e_t$  is equal to the CCGF between  $\hat{s}_t$  and  $\hat{n}_t$ .

From Lemmas 1 and 3, the following results are trivially obtained.

**Corollary 1**: The admissible decomposition with minimum estimation error of the components minimizes also the covariance between the two component estimators.

We turn our attention to the identification of the admissible decomposition that exhibits those desirable properties.

# 4 Historical Estimation Error and Admissible Decompositions

As mentioned in Section 2, each admissible decomposition is characterized by a particular allocation of the noise to the two components. Let  $s_t$  and  $n_t$  denote an admissible decomposition of  $x_t$ ; then  $g_x(\omega) = g_s(\omega) + g_n(\omega)$ . Let, for  $\omega \in [0, \pi]$ ,  $V_u^s = \min g_s(\omega)$ , and  $V_u^n = \min g_n(\omega)$ . The total amount of "additive" noise in  $x_t$  that can be distributed between the components is equal to  $V_u = V_u^s + V_u^n$ . Following an approach similar to Watson (1987), we shall express each admissible decomposition in terms of a parameter  $\alpha$ that reflects the particular noise allocation. Denote by  $s_t^0$  and  $n_t^0$  the decomposition with  $s_t$  canonical and  $n_t$  with maximum noise, and let  $g_s^0(\omega)$ ,  $g_n^0(\omega)$ ,  $A_s^0(B, F)$ , and  $A_n^0(B, F)$ be the associated spectra and ACGFs of the components. These functions, as well as the models for the underlying components, can be derived from the ARIMA model for the observed series. Since any admissible component  $s_t^{\alpha}$  is equal to  $s_t^{\alpha}$  plus an amount of noise with variance in the interval  $[0, V_u]$ , any admissible decomposition,  $s_t^{\alpha}$  and  $n_t^{\alpha}$ , can be expressed as

$$g_s^{\alpha}(\omega) = g_s^0(\omega) + \alpha V_u \tag{4.1.a}$$

$$g_n^{\alpha}(\omega) = g_n^0(\omega) - \alpha V_u \tag{4.1.b}$$

with  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ . The two canonical decompositions (one with  $s_t$  canonical, the other with canonical  $n_t$ ) can be seen as the two extreme cases  $\alpha = 0$  and  $\alpha = 1$ . The time domain equivalent of (4.1) is given by the relationships

$$A_{s}^{\alpha}(B,F) = A_{s}^{0}(B,F) + \alpha V_{u}$$
(4.2.a)

$$A_n^{\alpha}(B,F) = A_n^0(B,F) - \alpha V_u, \qquad (4.2.b)$$

and, for any  $\alpha$ ,  $A_x(B,F) = A_s^{\alpha}(B,F) + A_n^{\alpha}(B,F)$ . Our aim is to derive an expression that relates the variance of the component estimation error,  $V(e_t^{\alpha})$ , to the parameter  $\alpha$ . That variance, we recall, is also the covariance between the two component estimators.

For  $0 \leq \alpha \leq 1$  denote the estimators of the components for a particular  $\alpha$  by

$$\hat{s}_t^{\alpha} = \nu_s^{\alpha}(B, F) \, x_t \tag{4.3.a}$$

$$\hat{n}_t^{\alpha} = \nu_n^{\alpha}(B, F) x_t, \tag{4.3.b}$$

where the WK filter is (k = s, n):

$$\nu_k^{\alpha}(B,F) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \nu_{k,j}^{\alpha} \left( B^j + F^j \right).$$

Thus  $\hat{s}_t^0$  and  $\hat{n}_t^0$  correspond to the decomposition with canonical  $s_t$ , and  $\hat{s}_t^1$  and  $\hat{n}_t^1$  to the one with canonical  $n_t$ .

**Lemma 5**: Let  $e_t^{\alpha} = s_t^{\alpha} - \hat{s}_t^{\alpha} = \hat{n}_t^{\alpha} - n_t^{\alpha}$ . Then,

$$V(e_t^{\alpha}) = V(e_t^0) + (1 - 2\nu_{s,0}^0) V_u \alpha - h_0 V_u^2 \alpha^2, \qquad (4.4)$$

where  $e_t^0$  is the error in  $\hat{s}_t^0$ ,  $\nu_{s,0}^0$  is the central weight of the filter  $\nu_s^0(B, F)$ , and  $h_o$  is given by (1.12).

Lemma 5 expresses the variance of the component estimation error as a secondorder polynomial in  $\alpha$ , with coefficients that can be obtained from the "observed" ARIMA model. Considering that  $V(e_t^0)$  is the variance of model (3.7) and  $\nu_{s,0}^0$  is the variance of model (3.5), both for the case of a canonical  $s_t$ , and  $h_0$  is the variance of the inverse model (1.9), the three coefficients of (4.4) can be easily computed as the variance of ARMA models with the AR polynomial always equal to  $\theta(B)$ .

From Lemma 5 it is straightforward to find which admissible decomposition minimizes the variance of the component estimation error:

**Lemma 6**: For  $\alpha \in [0,1]$ ,  $V(e_t^{\alpha})$  is minimized

(a) at 
$$\dot{\alpha} = 0$$
 when  $2 \nu_{s,0}^0 + V_u h_0 \le 1$ ,

(b) at  $\alpha = 1$  when  $2 \nu_{s,0}^0 + V_u h_0 \ge 1$ .

As a function of  $\alpha$ ,  $V(e_t^{\alpha})$  given by (4.4) is a parabola, positive over the interval [0, 1], with a finite maximum for, say,  $\alpha_m$ . If  $\alpha_m$  is contained in the interval [0, 1], then either  $\alpha = 0$  or  $\alpha = 1$  may minimize  $V(e_t^{\alpha})$ ; when  $\alpha_m > 1$ , the minimum will be for  $\alpha = 0$ , and when  $\alpha_m < 0$ , it will be for  $\alpha = 1$ . Since  $\alpha_m = (1 - 2\nu_{s,0}^0)/2h_o V_u$ , it can be easily checked that the three cases are possible.

Lemma 6 implies that the component estimators with minimum MSE and minimum crosscovariance are always found at one of the two canonical decompositions. Up to now, the two components  $s_t$  and  $n_t$  have been treated symmetrically. We now break

this symmetry and denote by  $s_t$  the component with the largest central weight in the associated WK filter that provides the canonical component estimator; these weights are  $\nu_{s,0}^0$  and  $\nu_{n,o}^1$ . Thus, without loss of generality, we assume the following:

#### Assumption 6a: $\nu_{s,0}^0 \ge \nu_{n,0}^1$ .

Now it becomes possible to identify which of the two canonical decompositions has minimum estimation error.

Lemma 7: Among all admissible decompositions, under Assumption 6a, the historical estimator MSE is minimized for the decomposition with canonical  $n_t$ .

Lemma 7 provides a simple procedure to determine which canonical decomposition provides minimum component estimation error (and minimum covariance between the two component estimators). For each of the two components compute the central weight of the WK filter that yields the estimator of the component in its canonical form. Then, set as canonical component the one with the smallest weight (i.e., add all noise to the one with the largest weight). Notice that, from the two canonical specifications, the central weights of the WK filters can be simply computed as the variance of the ARMA model (3.5). Three remarks seem worth adding:

- (a) Since  $\nu_{k,0}^{\text{D}}$  measures the contribution of observation  $x_t$  to the component estimator, the precision of the estimator is maximized by assigning all additive noise to the component for which that contribution is largest.
- (b) In the important application to seasonal adjustment, if  $s_t$  denotes the seasonal component and  $n_t$  the adjusted series, it is often the case that  $\nu_{s,0}^0 < \nu_{n,0}^0$  and hence the most precise estimates of  $s_t$  and  $n_t$  are obtained with a canonical seasonal component. In these cases, the "minimum extraction" principle used in the AMB approach to seasonal adjustment provides also the most precise estimators, with minimum crosscovariance.
- (c) While one of the two canonical decompositions always provides the most precise estimators, the other may or may not yield estimators with maximum MSE. When  $\alpha_m < 0$  or  $\alpha_m > 1$ , then it maximizes  $V(e_t^{\alpha})$ , and coincides thus with the minimax solution of Watson (1987). For this solution, of course, the covariance between the estimators is also maximized.

It is worth noticing that the two opposite criteria (choosing the admissible decomposition with maximum or with minimum estimation error variance) stem from a "philosophical" difference. While Watson believes that there is a "true" underlying (unknown) seasonal component model among the set of admissible ones, we believe that reality does not provide for a particular allocation of noise among the two components and that this allocation is, in essence, arbitrary. In so far as unobserved components, such as trend or seasonality, are tools designed by the analyst to address problems, it makes sense to choose the most precise tool among the admissible ones. (d) Expression (4.4) corresponds to expression (3.9) in Watson (1987). The difference is due to the fact that Watson considers a fixed filter, while the filter, in our case, is the optimal one for every value of α. The fact that the filter depends on α invalidates the derivation in Watson, and expression (4.4) is obtained instead.

# 5 Preliminary Estimation Error, Revisions, and Admissible Decompositions

Up to now we have considered estimation of the components for an infinite realization of the series. Since the WK filter converges in both directions, as mentioned in Section 3, it can be safely truncated and, for most series lengths, the estimator for the central periods can be seen as the one obtained with the complete filter (the historical or final estimator). While it seems reasonable that, a data-producing agency wishing to produce historical series as precise as possible, minimizes the error in the final estimator, it also seems reasonable that someone involved in short-term monitoring or policy-making would seek to minimize the error in the estimator for the most recent periods, in order to avoid error-induced policy actions (this concern is certainly present in, for example, monetary policy). Given that for the most recent observation the WK filter cannot be applied, a preliminary estimator has to be used instead. We proceed to consider the error in this preliminary estimator.

Assume that only a finite realization of the series is available. Denote this realization by  $X_T = [x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_T]$ , and by  $x_{t/T}$  the forecast of  $x_t$  when observations are available up to and including period T. Then, as shown by Cleveland and Tiao (1976), the optimal "preliminary" estimator of  $s_t$  is given by

$$\hat{s}_{t/T} = E_T \, s_t = \nu_s(B, F) \, x^e_{t|T}, \tag{5.1}$$

where  $\nu(B, F)$  is the WK filter given by (3.4), and  $x_{t|T}^e$  is the series extended with forecasts  $x_{T+j/T}$  and backcasts  $x_{1-j/T}$ ,  $j = 1, 2, \ldots$ . As new observations become available, the forecasts are updated or replaced by the new data and, as a consequence, the estimator of  $s_t$  will be revised until it becomes the historical estimator, once the filter has converged. Since the above forecasts and backcasts are linear functions of the elements of  $X_T$ , expression (5.1) can be rewritten

$$\hat{s}_{t|t+k} = \nu_s(B, F, k) x_t,$$
(5.2)

where T = t+k,  $\nu_s(B, F, k)$  denotes the truncated, asymmetric filter, and  $x_t$  the elements of  $X_T$ . We shall assume that the series is long enough for the weights of (5.2) to have converged in the direction of the past. In the vast majority of practical applications this is not a restrictive assumption, and it allows us to associate the finite-sample effect on the preliminary estimator with the unavailability of future observations. We can then write the error in the preliminary estimator,  $d_{t|T} = s_t - \hat{s}_{t/T}$  as

$$d_{t|T} = e_t + r_{t|T},$$

where  $e_t = s_t - \hat{s}_t$  is the error in the final estimator  $\hat{s}_t$  (analysed in Section 3.3), and  $r_{t|T} = \hat{s}_t - \hat{s}_{t/T}$  is the "revision error" in the preliminary estimator. Under Assumptions 1-3, the two errors,  $e_t$  and  $r_{t|T}$ , are independent (see Pierce, 1980), and this will be true for any admissible decomposition. Rewrite expression (A.1) as

$$\hat{s}_{t} = \xi_{s}(B,F) a_{t} = \dots + \xi_{s,-1} a_{t-1} + \xi_{s,0} a_{t} + \xi_{s,1} a_{t+1} + \dots + \xi_{s,T-t} a_{T} + \\ + \xi_{s,T-t+1} a_{T+1} + \dots = \xi_{s}(B)^{-} a_{T} + \xi_{s}(F)^{+} a_{T+1}.$$
(5.3)

The weights  $\xi_{s,j}$  are easily determined from the identity

$$\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}(B) \ \theta(F) \ \xi_{\mathfrak{s}}(B,F) = V_{\mathfrak{s}} \ \theta_{\mathfrak{s}}(B) \ \theta_{\mathfrak{s}}(F) \ \phi_{\mathfrak{n}}(F). \tag{5.4}$$

Under suitable conditions concerning the starting values (see Bell, 1984), the estimator  $\hat{s}_{tT}$  can be obtained by taking conditional expectations at time T in (5.3), yielding

$$\hat{s}_{t|T} = \xi_s(B)^- a_T, \tag{5.5}$$

since  $E_T a_{T+j} = 0$  for  $j \ge 1$ . Substracting (5.5) from (5.3), the revision in the concurrent estimator can be expressed as

$$r_{t|T} = \xi_s(F)^+ a_{T+1} = \sum_{j=T-t+1}^{\infty} \xi_{s,j} a_{t+j},$$
(5.6)

which involves only the coefficients of  $F^j$ ,  $j \ge 1$ , in (5.4) and hence is a convergent filter that can be truncated after a finite number of terms. Expression (5.6), properly truncated, can then be used to compute the ACGF of  $r_{t|T}$ ; in particular

$$V(r_{t|T}) \simeq \sum_{j=T-t+1}^{M} \xi_{s,j}^{2},$$
(5.7)

where M is the truncation point.

Up to now, the discussion in this section applies equally to preliminary estimators, for which  $T \ge t$ , and to forecasts of the component, for which T < t. We proceed to consider first preliminary estimation and, for notational convenience, set T = t + k(k = $0,1,2,\ldots)$ . For the admissible decomposition associated with  $\alpha$ ,  $x_t = s_t^{\alpha} + n_t^{\alpha}$ , the components preliminary estimation error and revision error can be expressed as:

$$d_{t|t+k}^{\alpha} = s_{t}^{\alpha} - \hat{s}_{t|t+k}^{\alpha} = e_{t}^{\alpha} + r_{t|t+k}^{\alpha}$$
(5.8)

$$r_{t|t+k}^{\alpha} = \sum_{j=k+1}^{\infty} \xi_{s,j}^{\alpha} a_{t+j},$$
(5.9)

respectively. In the previous section we looked at the dependence of  $e_t^{\alpha}$  on  $\alpha$ . Now we look at the dependence of the revision error,  $r_{t|t+k}^{\alpha}$ , and of the total error,  $d_{t|t+k}^{\alpha}$ , on  $\alpha$ .

From (1.11), (3.4), and (5.4) it is seen that

$$\pi(B)\,\xi^{\alpha}_{s}(B,F) = \nu^{\alpha}_{s}(B,F),\tag{5.10.a}$$

or, since  $\pi(B) = 1/\psi(B)$ ,

$$\xi_s^{\alpha}(B,F) = \nu_s^{\alpha}(B,F)\,\psi(B). \tag{5.10.b}$$

Equating coefficients of  $B^0$  in (5.10.a), it is obtained that

$$\nu_{s,0}^{\alpha} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \xi_{s,j}^{\alpha} \, \pi_j, \tag{5.11}$$

where  $\nu_{s,0}^{\alpha}$  is the coefficient of  $x_t$  in the estimator (4.3.a). Denote by  $\nu_{s,0}^{\alpha}(k)$  and by  $h_0(k)$  the sum of the first (k+1) terms in the r.h.s. of (5.11) and of (1.12), respectively. Thus,

$$\nu_{s,0}^{\alpha}(k) = \xi_{s,0}^{\alpha} + \pi_1 \xi_{s,1}^{\alpha} + \dots + \pi_k \xi_{s,k}^{\alpha}, \qquad (5.12)$$

$$h_0(k) = 1 + \pi_1^2 + \ldots + \pi_k^2, \tag{5.13}$$

and the following lemma is proved in the Appendix.

**Lemma 8**: The variance of the revision error in the preliminary estimator  $\hat{s}^{\alpha}_{t|t+k}$ , is given by

$$V(r_{t|t+k}^{\alpha}) = V(r_{t|t+k}^{0}) + 2\left[\nu_{s,0}^{0} - \nu_{s,0}^{0}(k)\right] V_{u} \alpha + \left[h_{0} - h_{0}(k)\right] V_{u}^{2} \alpha^{2},$$
(5.14)

where the superscript 0 denotes the decomposition with  $s_t$  canonical.

As a result, the variance of the revision in a preliminary estimator is given by a polynomial in  $\alpha$  of degree 2, where the coefficients can be derived from the overall ARIMA model. From Lemma 8, the following results are obtained.

**Lemma 9**: For  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ ,  $V(r_{t|t+k}^{\alpha})$  is maximized:

(a) at 
$$\alpha = 0$$
 when  $2\nu_{s,0}^0 + (h_0 - h_0(k)) V_u \le 2 \nu_{s,0}^0(k);$ 

(b) at  $\alpha = 1$  when  $2\nu_{s,0}^0 + (h_0 - h_0(k)) V_u \ge 2 \nu_{s,0}^0(k)$ .

**Corollary 2**: The variance of the revision error in the preliminary estimator (of  $s_t$  and of  $n_t$ ) is maximized at one of the two canonical decompositions.

Corollary 2 generalizes the result in Maravall (1986), and shows an unpleasant feature of the canonical decompositions: they may imply relatively large revisions in the concurrent estimator of the signal. However, since  $V(r_t^{\alpha})$  is a convex parabole, it follows that, as was the case for the error in the historical estimator, while one of the two canonical decompositions maximizes the variance of the revision error, it may well be that the other canonical decomposition minimizes that variance. This will happen when  $\alpha_m$ , the value of  $\alpha$  that minimizes (5.14), falls outside the interval [0,1].

Be that as it may, the main concern is not the revision error *per se*, but the total error in the preliminary estimator of the signal. The dependence of the variance of

this error on the particular admissible decomposition selected is shown in the following lemma, obtained by using expressions (4.4) and (5.14) in  $V(d_{t|t+k}^{\alpha}) = V(e_t^{\alpha}) + V(r_{t|t+k}^{\alpha})$ .

**Lemma 10**: The variance of the error in the preliminary estimator  $\hat{s}_{t|t+k}$  is given by the second-degree polynomial in  $\alpha$ 

$$V(d_{t|t+k}^{\alpha}) = V(d_{t|t+k}^{0}) + (1 - 2\nu_{s,0}^{0}(k)) V_{u} \alpha - h_{o}(k) V_{u}^{2} \alpha^{2},$$
(5.15)

where  $d_{t|t+k}^{0}$  is the error that corresponds to the canonical signal.

Lemma 10 allows us to determine which admissible decomposition minimizes the error in the preliminary estimator.

**Lemma 11**: For  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ ,  $V(d_{\mathfrak{c}|t+k}^{\alpha})$  is minimized

(a) at  $\alpha = 0$  when  $2\nu_{s,0}^{0}(k) + h_{0}(k) V_{u} \le 1$ ; (b) at  $\alpha = 1$  when  $2\nu_{s,0}^{0}(k) + h_{0}(k) V_{u} \ge 1$ .

**Corollary 3**: The variance of the error in the preliminary estimator of the signal is always minimized at one of the two canonical decompositions.

As a consequence, when the effects of the historical estimation error and of the revision error are aggregated, it still remains true that a canonical specification yields the most precise preliminary estimators of the components. Which one of the two canonical decompositions displays that property can be determined through Lemma 11 or, as was done in Section 4, by breaking the symmetric treatment of the two components. Proceeding in this way, it is possible to express the general result in a very simple way:

For a particular admissible decomposition, rewrite expression (5.2) as

$$\hat{s}^{\alpha}_{t|t+k} = \nu^{\alpha}_{s} \left( B, F, k \right) x_{t}, \qquad (5.16)$$

so that the decomposition with  $s_t$  canonical yields the estimators  $\hat{s}^0_{t|t+k}$  and  $\hat{n}^0_{t|t+k}$ , while that with  $n_t$  canonical yields  $\hat{s}^1_{t|t+k}$  and  $\hat{n}^1_{t|t+k}$ . It will be convenient to consider the filter that yields the preliminary estimator of  $u_t$  given by (A.5), that is,

$$\hat{u}_{t|t+k} = \nu_u \left( B, F, k \right) x_t, \tag{5.17}$$

where  $u_t \sim \operatorname{niid}(0, V_u)$ . The parameters  $\nu_{s,0}^0(k)$  and  $h_0(k)$ , defined by (5.12) and (5.13), turn out to have a simple interpretation in terms of the filters that provide the preliminary estimators of the components, as shown by the following lemma.

#### Lemma 12:

(a)  $\nu_{s,0}^0(k)$  is the weight of  $B^0$  in the filter  $\nu_s^0(B, F, k)$ .

(b)  $h_0(k)$  is the weight of  $B^0$  in the filter  $\nu_u(B, F, k)$ .

As before, without loss of generality, denote by  $s_t$  the component with the largest weight for  $x_t$  in the filter that provides the preliminary estimator of the component in its canonical form, i.e.:

**Assumption 6**b:  $\nu_{s,0}^0(k) \ge \nu_{n,0}^1(k)$ .

**Lemma 13**: Among all admissible decompositions, under Assumption 6b, the most precise preliminary estimators are obtained for the decomposition with canonical  $n_t$ .

From Lemma 13, the decomposition with the most precise estimators of the components is straightforward to obtain.

Corollary 4: Let (1.1) and (1.2) represent the admissible decompositions of a given ARIMA model under Assumptions 1-3. To select the decomposition with smallest MSE in a preliminary estimator of  $s_t$  and  $n_t$ ,

- a) compute the weight of  $x_t$  in the two filters that provide the preliminary estimators of the components specified in their canonical form;
- b) choose the canonical decomposition with canonical component the one with the smallest weight.

Since when  $k \to \infty$ , from (5.12) and (5.13),  $\nu_{s,0}^{0}(k) \to \nu_{s,0}^{0}$  and  $h_{0}(k) \to h_{0}$ , expression (5.15) becomes then (4.4), in agreement with the fact that, for  $k \to \infty$ , the preliminary estimator becomes the historical one. A particular case of considerable importance is when k = 0. The associated estimator,  $\hat{s}_{t|t}$ , is denoted the "concurrent" estimator. Obviously, to use the most precise concurrent estimator (i.e., the estimator of the signal for the most recent period) could be a reasonable choice for an agency involved in short-term economic policy and monitoring.

By setting k = 0 in (5.12) and (5.13), it is seen that  $h_0(0) = 1$ , and  $\nu_{s,0}^0(0) = \xi_{s,0}^0$ . Expression (5.15) becomes

$$V(d_{t|t}^{\alpha}) = V(d_{t|t}^{0}) + (1 - 2\xi_{s,0}^{0}) V_{u}\alpha - V_{z}^{2} \alpha^{2},$$

Assumption 6b becomes:  $\xi_{s,0}^0 \geq \xi_{n,0}^1$ , and the decomposition with most precise estimators is the one that sets  $n_t$  canonical, and adds all noise to  $s_t$ . As was the case with historical estimation, while one of the two canonical decompositions always minimizes the variance of the error in the preliminary estimator, the other canonical decomposition may or may not maximize that variance. It will maximize the variance when  $\alpha_m$ , the value of  $\alpha$ that maximizes the function (5.15), falls outside the interval [0, 1]. From (5.15) it is easily seen that  $\alpha$  will fall outside the unit interval when  $\nu_{s,0}^0(k)$  is outside the interval  $[.5 - h_0(k) V_u, .5]$ ; in this case the two canonical decompositions provide the most and the least precise estimators.

Although historical and preliminary estimators have minimum MSE when one of the two canonical specifications is employed, the canonical specification may well not be the same for different estimators. Thus, for example, there are models, as we shall see in the next section, for which the historical seasonally adjusted series is best estimated with a canonical seasonal component, while the concurrent seasonally adjusted series is best estimated with a canonical trend. The switching of solutions is due to the fact that Assumption 6b may imply that, for different values of k, different components may have the largest  $\nu_0^0(k)$  weight. Focussing attention on historical and concurrent estimation, from Lemmas 6 and 11, the following corollary is immediately obtained.

<u>Corollary 5</u>: Under Assumption 6a, when  $\xi_{s0}^0 < (1 - V_u)/2$ , the historical estimation error is minimized with a canonical  $n_t$  and the concurrent estimation error is minimized with a canonical  $s_t$ . Otherwise,  $n_t$  canonical minimizes both types of errors.

Under Assumption 6b (with k = 0), replacing  $\xi_{s0}^0$  with  $\nu_{s0}^0$ , and  $V_u$  with  $h_0 V_u$  in the above inequality, the same result holds.

The possible switching of solutions is an inconvenient feature since, in practice, it could mean that agencies producing historical series and agencies involved in shortterm policy would use different seasonally adjusted series. Perhaps the most sensible procedure would be, in the case of switching solutions, to publish the most precise historical estimator, and use the most precise concurrent estimator for internal shortterm policy making. In any event, as will be seen in the next section, the switching of solutions tends to occur when the difference between the two solutions is small, and hence the inconvenience is minor.

## **6** Forecasts

Since any admissible component can be expressed as the sum of the canonical component plus an orthogonal white-noise component (with variance  $\alpha V_u$ ), the forecast of the component will be that of the canonical one plus the forecast of orthogonal white noise. Since the latter will always be zero, it follows that, although different admissible decompositions will provide different historical and preliminary estimators, they will all provide the same forecasts. The standard errors of these forecasts, however, will differ: obviously, they will become larger as  $\alpha V_u$  increases. Trivially, thus, the decomposition that minimizes the standard error of the component forecast is that with the component itself canonical. Contrary to the case of estimation errors in current or past signals, the forecasting errors of  $s_t^{\alpha}$  and  $n_t^{\alpha}$  are not the same. The minimum variance forecast error of  $s_t^{\alpha}$  is reached at the canonical decomposition with  $\alpha = 0$ , while that of  $n_t^{\alpha}$  at the canonical decomposition with  $\alpha = 1$ . There is not an admissible decomposition that simultaneously minimizes the forecasting error variance of  $s_t$  and  $n_t$ . Still, if forecasts are the estimators of interest, the selection of an admissible decomposition is not a very relevant issue, since all decompositions yield identical forecasts.

### 7 Examples

#### 7.1 Trend-plus-Cycle Model

We begin with the same example used to illustrate identification in Section 2. The mode is that of equation (2.2) with  $\theta(B) = (1 + .364B - .025B^2)$ , and accepts a "trend-plus-

cycle" decomposition, where the admissible decompositions are given by components of the type (2.3). The identity (1.8) becomes:

$$(1 + .364B - .025B^2) a_t = (1 + .7B)(1 + \theta_s B) a_{st} + (1 - B)(1 + \theta_n B) a_{nt}$$
(7.1)

Since (7.1) is an identity among three MA(2) processes, the associated system of covariance equations consists of 3 equations (one for the variance, and one for each of the lag-1 and lag-2 covariances). The unknowns are the 4 parameters  $\theta_s$ ,  $\theta_n$ ,  $V_s$ , and  $V_n$ , and hence (2.3) is not identified.

As seen before, an easy way to identify the component models is by adding the zero-coefficient restriction  $\theta_a = 0$ , which yields of course the decomposition (2.1), with  $V_s = 5V_u = .621 \pmod{(2.2)}$  is standardized by setting  $V_a = 1$ ). From this initial decomposition, it is found that  $g_s(\omega) = V_s/2(1-\cos\omega)$ , so that for  $\omega \in [0,\pi]$ , min  $g_s(\omega) = g_s(\pi) = V_s/4 = .155$ . Similarly,  $g_n(\omega) = V_n(1.04 + .4\cos\omega)/(1.49 + 1.4\cos\omega)$ , and hence min  $g_n(\omega) = g_n(0) = .062$ . Since the amount of additive noise that can be exchanged between the components is the sum of these two minima,  $V_u = .217$ .

Starting from the decomposition (2.1), if we substract from  $g_s(\omega)$  its minimum .155, the resulting spectra can be factorized to obtain the model for the canonical signal (for a simple algorithm to factorize a spectrum see Maravall and Mathis, 1994.) This model is found to be

$$\nabla s_t^0 = (1+B) a_{st}^0, \quad V_s^0 = .155.$$
 (7.2.a)

Since the noise removed from  $s_t$  is added to  $n_t$ , factorizing the spectrum  $(g_n(\omega) + .155)$  yields the model for the component  $n_t^0$ , associated with the canonical  $s_t^0$ ; namely.

$$(1 + .7B) n_t^0 = (1 + .443B) a_{nt}^0, \qquad V_n^0 = .301.$$
 (7.2.b)

From models (2.2) and (7.2), expressions (3.7), (3.5), and (1.9) can be used to compute the variance of the estimation error. The variance  $V(e_t^0)$ , the central weight of the WK filter for  $\hat{s}_t^0$ ,  $\nu_{s,0}^0$ , and the coefficient  $h_0$  of Lemma 5 are the variances of the processes

$$\begin{aligned} \theta(B) z_t &= (1+B) (1-.443B) b_t, & V_b = V_s^0 V_n^0 = .047, \\ \theta(B) z_t &= (1+B) (1+.7B) b_t, & V_b = V_s^0 = .155, \\ \theta(B) z_t &= (1+.7B) (1-B) b_t, & V_b = V_a = 1, \end{aligned}$$

respectively, where  $\theta(B) = (1 + .364B - .025B^2)$  in all cases. This yields  $V(e_t^0) = .101$ ,  $\nu_{s,0}^0 = .441$ ,  $h_0 = 1.653$ , and, using (4.4), for any admissible decomposition

$$V(e_t^{\alpha}) = .101 + .026\alpha - .078\alpha^2.$$
(7.3)

The historical estimation error variance is seen to be minimized for  $\alpha = 1$ , that is, for the decomposition with canonical  $n_t$ , in which case  $V(e_t^1) = .049$ . The maximum value of  $V(e_t^{\alpha})$  is reached for  $\alpha_m = .164$ , an interior point of the interval [0, 1]; therefore, the other canonical, decomposition (7.2), is not, in this case, a minimax solution. That the decomposition with minimum estimation error is the one with canonical  $n_t$  can also be found through Lemma 7: The decomposition with canonical  $n_t$  is found by removing  $\min g_n(\omega) = .062$  from  $g_n(\omega)$ , and adding it to  $g_s(\omega)$  in the initial decomposition (2.1). Factorizing the resulting spectra yields the models

$$\nabla s_t^1 = (1 - .084) a_{st}^1, \qquad V_s^1 = .739,$$
  
(1 + .7B)  $n_t^1 = (1 - B) a_{nt}^1, \qquad V_n^1 = .018.$ 

Proceeding as before,  $\nu_{n,0}^1$  is the variance of the model

$$\theta(B) z_t = (1-B)^2 b_t, \qquad V_b = V_n^1 = .018,$$

equal to .200. Thus, since  $\nu_{s,0}^0 = .441 > \nu_{n,0}^1 = .200$ , Assumption 6a holds and Lemma 7 can be directly applied. For this example, thus, the MSE of the historical estimators of the two components are minimized when the cycle is made canonical. (Notice that, if  $x_t$  is a series observed every 6 months, the component  $n_t$  represents a seasonal component. The most precise estimator of the seasonally adjusted series would then be obtained by removing a canonical seasonal component.)

Concerning preliminary estimation, we focuss on the concurrent estimator and its one-period revision. In order to obtain the error variances for any admissible decomposition, from (5.15), we need the parameters  $V(d_{t|t+k}^0)$ ,  $\nu_{s,0}^0(k)$ , and  $h_0(k)$ , for k = 0, 1. The first parameter  $V(d_{t|t+k}^0)$  is equal to the sum of  $V(e_t^0)$ , already computed, plus  $V(r_{t|t+k}^0)$ , which can be computed through (5.7). For this we need the coefficients in  $F^j$ ,  $j = 0, 1, \ldots, M$  of the filter  $\xi_s^0(B, F)$ , given by (5.4). For this example,

$$\xi_s^0(B,F) = V_s^0 \frac{(1+B)(1+F)(1+.7F)}{(1-B)(1+.364F-.025F^2)} = V_s^0 \eta(B,F).$$
(7.4)

In order to express the filter  $\eta(B, F)$  as the sum of a filter in B and a filter in F, we first write the numerator and denominator of  $\eta(B,F)$  as  $(1 + B)(.7 + 1.7B + B^2)F^2$  and  $(1 - B)(-.025 + .364B + B^2)F^2$ , respectively, and then obtain the partial fractions decomposition:

$$\eta(B,F) = \frac{c_0}{1-B} + \frac{c_1 + c_2 B + c_3 B^2}{-.025 + .364B + B^2}.$$
(7.5)

The coefficients  $c_0$ ,  $c_1$ ,  $c_2$ , and  $c_3$  are determined by removing denominators in (7.5), and equating coefficients of  $B^0$ , B,  $B^2$ , and  $B^3$  in the left- and right-hand-side of the resulting identity. This yields a linear system of equations with solution  $c_0 = 5.078$ ,  $c_1 = .827$ ,  $c_2 = 1.378$ , and  $c_3 = -1$ . The filter  $\eta(B, F)$  can then be expressed as  $\eta(B, F) = \eta^{-}(B) + \eta^{+}(F)$ , where  $\eta^{-}(B) = 5.078 (1 - B)^{-1}$ , and  $\eta^{+}(F) = (-1 + 1.378F + .827F^2) (1 + .364F - .025F^2)^{-1}$ . Multiplying by  $V_s^0$ , it is found that

$$\begin{split} \xi^0_{sj} &= .788, \qquad j < 0, \qquad \xi^0_{s0} = .633, \\ \xi^0_{s1} &= .270, \qquad \xi^0_{s2} = .026, \qquad \xi^0_{s3} = -.003, \\ \xi^0_{s4} &= .002, \qquad \xi^0_{s5} = -.001, \qquad \xi^0_{sj} \simeq 0, \qquad j > 5 \end{split}$$

	Concurrent Estimator	One-period Revision	Final Estimator
$\begin{array}{c} \text{canonical} \\ \text{seasonal component} \\ (\alpha = 0) \end{array}$	.175	.103	.101
canonical seasonally adjusted series $(\alpha = 1)$	.070	.055	.049

Table 1: TREND-PLUS-CYCLE EXAMPLE: Estimation Error Variance

Expression (5.7) yields  $V(r_{t|t}^0) = .074$ , and hence  $V(d_{t|t}^0) = V(e_t^0) + V(r_{t|t}^0) = .175$ . For the one-period revision of the concurrent estimator, since  $V(d_t^0) = V(d_{t|t+1}^0) + (\xi_{s,1}^0)^2$ , it follows that  $V(d_{t|t+1}^0) = .103$ . The coefficients  $h_0(k)$  are found through (5.13), with  $\pi(B) = (1 + .713B) \nabla/\theta(B)$ . In particular  $\pi_0 = 1$ ,  $\pi_1 = -.664$ , and hence  $h_0(0) =$ 1, h(1) = 1.441. Finally, from (5.12),  $\nu_{s,0}^0(0) = .633$ , and  $\nu_{s,0}^0(1) = .453$ . Replacing the coefficients of  $\alpha$  in (5.15) with their computed values, the estimation error of the concurrent estimator and of its one-period revision, for any admissible decomposition, are equal to

$$V(d_{tlt}^{\alpha}) = .175 - .057\alpha - .047\alpha^2, \tag{7.6}$$

$$V(d_{t|t+1}^{\alpha}) = .103 + .020\alpha - .068\alpha^{2}.$$
(7.7)

Expression (5.14) provides also the variance of the revision error; for the concurrent estimator it is found equal to

$$V(r_{t|t}^{\alpha}) = .074 - .083\alpha + .031\alpha^2.$$
(7.8)

The four variances (7.3), (7.6), (7.7), and (7.8) are represented in Figure 3. For this example, consideration of different estimators does not produce any switching of solutions, and the specification with canonical  $n_t(\alpha = 1)$  always minimizes the estimation error variance. (It is straightforward to find that  $\xi_{n0}^1 = .150 < \xi_{s,0}^0 = .633$ , and hence the conditions of Assumptions 6a and 6b are both met.) The variances of the concurrent, one-period revision, and final estimation errors are given in Table 1. The use of a canonical  $n_t$  component instead of a canonical  $s_t$  cuts in less than half the variance of the error, a nonnegligible gain in precision.

#### 7.2 Quarterly ARIMA Model

We consider the model

$$(1 - B4) x_t = (1 - .5B) a_t, (7.9)$$

which is the same example used for illustration by Kohn and Ansley (1986) and Gómez and Maravall (1994). The AR part of (7.9) can be rewritten  $(1 - B^4) = \nabla U$ , where  $U = 1 + B + B^2 + B^3$ , and hence the model can be decomposed into a seasonal component,  $s_t$  and a seasonally adjusted series,  $n_t$ , having models of the type

$$Us_t \qquad \theta_s(B) \ a_{st}$$
$$\nabla n_t \qquad \theta_n(B) \ a_{nt}$$

where, under Assumption 4b,  $\theta_s(B)$  and  $\theta_n(B)$  are, in general, of order 3 and 1, respectively. The identity (1.8) is now given by

$$(1 - .5B) a_t = (1 - B) \theta_s(B) a_{st} + U \theta_n(B) a_{nt}$$
(7.10)

and there will be, in general, 5 covariance equations associated with this identity. Since there are 6 unknowns  $(\theta_{s1}, \theta_{s2}, \theta_{s3}, \theta_n, V_s \text{ and } V_n)$ , the model is not identified. Proceeding as before, we start with an initial decomposition identified with the use of zero-coefficient restrictions. Restricting to 2 the order of  $\theta_s(B)$  and to 0 that of  $\theta_n(B)$ , the system of covariance equations has now 4 equations and 4 unknowns  $(\theta_{s1}, \theta_{s2}, V_s, V_n)$ . The system, however, is highly nonlinear and a more efficient way to proceed is the following.

Setting  $\theta_s(B) = (1 + \theta_{s1}B + \theta_{s2}B^2)$  and  $\theta_n(B) = 1$ , the Fourier transform of the identity between the ACGF of the left- and right-hand-side of (7.10) yields

$$1.25 - \cos\omega = (g_0 + g_1 \cos\omega + g_2 \cos2\omega) (2 - 2\cos\omega) + (4 + 6\cos\omega + + 4\cos2\omega + 2\cos3\omega) V_n,$$
(7.11)

where  $g_o = (1 + \theta_{s1}^2 + \theta_{s2}^2) V_s$ ,  $g_1 = \theta_{s1}(1 + \theta_{s2}) V_s$ , and  $g_2 = \theta_{s2} V_s$ . Using the identity  $2\cos(j\omega)\cos\omega = \cos(j-1)\omega + \cos(j+1)\omega$ , operating in (7.11), and equating coefficients in  $\cos(j\omega)$ , j = 0, 1, 2, 3, a linear system of equations is obtained, with solution  $g_0 = .656$ ,  $g_1 = .125$ ,  $g_2 = .031$ , and  $V_n = .016$ . Therefore, the initial decomposition is given by

$$g_s(\omega) = \frac{.656 + .125\cos\omega + .031\cos2\omega}{4 + 6\cos\omega + 4\cos2\omega + 2\cos3\omega},$$
(7.12.a)

$$g_n(\omega) = .016/(2 - 2\cos\omega).$$
 (7.12.b)

From these spectra it is found that, for  $\omega \in [0,1]$ ,  $\min g_s(\omega) = g_s(0) = .051$ , and  $\min g_n(\omega) = g_n(\pi) = .004$ . Therefore,  $V_u = g_s(0) + g_n(\pi) = .055$ .

To obtain the canonical decomposition for  $\alpha = 0$  (i.e., the decomposition with canonical seasonal), one simply needs to substract  $g_s(0)$  from (7.1:2.a). Factorizing the spectrum obtained, the model for the canonical  $s_t$  component is found to be given by

$$U s_t^0 = (1 - .501B - .342B^2 - .156B^3) a_{st}^0, \qquad V_s^0 = .325.$$
(7.13.a)

Adding, in turn,  $g_s(0)$  to (5.6.b) and factorizing the resulting spectrum yields the model for  $n_t^{0}$ :

$$\nabla n_t^0 = (1 - .578B) a_{nt}^0, \quad V_n^0 = .088.$$
 (7.13.b)

We can now compute  $V(e_t^0)$ ,  $\nu_{s,0}^0$ , and  $h_0$  of Lemma 5 as the variances of the models

$$\begin{array}{ll} (1 - .5B) \ z_t = (1 - 501B - .342B^2 - .156B^3) \ (1 - .578B) \ b_t, V_b = V_s^0 \ V_n^0 = .029, \\ (1 - .5B) \ z_t = (1 - 501B - .342B^2 - .156B^3) \ (1 - B) \ b_t, \quad V_b = V_s^0 = .325, \\ (1 - .5B) \ z_t = (1 - B^4) \ b_t, \quad V_b = V_a = 1, \end{array}$$

which yields  $V(e_t^0) = .042$ ,  $\nu_{s0}^0 = .701$ , and  $h_0 = 2.5$ . Since  $2\nu_{s0}^0 + V_u h_0 = 1.54 > 1$ , according to Lemma 6 the decomposition with minimum estimation error variance is that with a canonical  $n_t$  component ( $\alpha = 1$ ). This is easily confirmed by the expression for  $V(e_t^{\alpha})$ , from (4.4) equal to

$$V(e_t^{\alpha}) = .042 - .022\alpha - .008\alpha^2, \tag{7.14}$$

in the interval  $\alpha \in [0,1]$ . The minimum is reached for  $V(e_t^1) = .013$ . Notice that, in this case, the maximum of  $V(e_t^{\alpha})$  is reached at  $\alpha_m < 0$ , and hence  $(s_t^0, n_t^0)$  represents the decomposition with the largest error variance in the component estimator; i.e., the minimax solution.

The model for the canonical  $n_t$  component is found by removing from (7.12.b) the constant  $\min g_n(\omega) = g_n(\pi) = .004$  and factorizing the resulting spectrum; the model is found to be  $\nabla n_t^1 = (1+B) a_{nt}^1$ ,  $V_n^1 = .004$ . According to (3.5),  $\nu_{n0}^1$  is equal to the variance of the model  $(1 - .5B) z_t = (1 + B) U b_t$ ,  $V_b = .004$ , so that  $\nu_{n0}^1 = .162$ . Since  $\nu_{s0}^0 > \nu_{n0}^1$ , Assumption 6a is satisfied and Lemma 7 confirms that the decomposition with  $n_t$  canonical provides the most precise component estimators. Notice that, while in the first example, these estimators are obtained with a canonical seasonal (or cyclical) component, in the second example they are obtained with a canonical trend. (It can be seen that the result still holds if  $\theta = .5$  in (7.9) is replaced by any invertible value of  $\theta$ .)

In order to obtain the variances of the preliminary estimation error,  $V(d^{o}_{t|t+k})$ , and of the revision error,  $V(r^{\alpha}_{t|t+k})$ , we also need the parameters  $V(r^{0}_{t|t+k})$ ,  $V(d^{0}_{t|t+k})$ ,  $\nu^{0}_{s,0}(k)$ , and  $h_{0}(k)$  of Lemmas 8 and 10. As in the previous example, we consider the concurrent estimator and its one-period revision. The variance  $V(d^{0}_{t|t+k})$  for k = 0, 1 are obtained from the sum  $V(e^{0}_{t}) + V(r^{0}_{t|t+k})$ , where the first term has already been computed, and the second term is found using (5.7), once the coefficients in  $F^{j}(j > 0)$  of  $\xi^{0}_{s}(B,F)$  have been obtained. These  $\xi$ -coefficients can be obtained as follows. As in the first example, write  $\xi^{0}_{s}(B,F) = V^{o}_{s}\eta(B,F)$ , with

$$\eta(B,F) = \left[\frac{\theta_s^0(B)}{U}\right] \left[\frac{\theta_s^0(F)(1-F)}{\theta(F)}\right],$$

where  $\theta_s^0(B)$  and  $\theta(B)$  denote the MA polynomials in (7.13.a) and (7.9), respectively. Then  $\eta(B, F)$  can be rewritten as

$$\eta(B,F) = \frac{F^4}{F} \left[ \frac{\theta_s(B)\,\bar{\theta}_s(B)\,(1-B)}{U\,\bar{\theta}(B)} \right],\tag{7.15}$$

where  $\bar{\theta}(B)$  denotes  $\theta(B^{-1})$  as a function of B (i.e. if  $\theta(B) = 1 - .5B$ ,  $\bar{\theta}(B) = -.5 + B$ ). Using a partial fraction expansion, the expression in brackets in (7.15) can be decomposed

$$\frac{c(B)}{U} + \frac{d(B)}{\bar{\theta}(B)},$$

where c(B) and d(B) are of degree 2 and 4, respectively. Therefore,

$$\eta(B,F) = F^3 \frac{c(B)}{U} + \frac{\bar{d}(F)}{\theta(F)} = F^3 c_1(B) + d_1(F).$$

Shifting forward by 3 periods the coefficients of  $c_1(B)$ , adding them to the coefficients of  $d_1(F)$ , and multiplying by  $V_s^0$  (given by (7.13.a)), the coefficients of  $\xi_s^0(B, F)$  are obtained. For our purposes, only the weights in  $F^j$ ,  $j \ge 0$ , are of interest, namely  $\xi_{s0}^0 = .824$ ,  $\xi_{s1}^0 = -.135$ ,  $\xi_{s2}^0 = -.099$ ,  $\xi_{s3}^0 = -.065$ ,  $\xi_{s4}^0 = .018$ ,  $\xi_{s5}^0 = .009$ ,  $\xi_{s6}^0 = .005$ ,  $\xi_{s7}^0 = .002$ ,  $\xi_{s8}^0 = .001$ ,  $\xi_{si}^0 \simeq 0$  (i > 8). Using expression (5.7),  $V(r_{t|t}^0) = .033$ , and hence  $V(d_{t|t}^0) = V(e_t^0) + V(r_{t+t}^0) = .075$ . Further,  $V(d_{t|t+1}^0) = V(d_{t|t}^0) - (\xi_{s,1}^0)^2 = .060$ . Finally, the weights  $\pi_0$  and  $\pi_1$  are obtained from  $\pi(B) = (1 - B^4)(1 - .5B)^{-1}$ , which yields  $\pi_0 = 1$  and  $\pi_1 = .5$ . From (5.12) and (5.13), the parameters  $\nu_{s,0}^0(k)$  and  $h_0(k)$  can now be computed, and Lemmas 8 and 10 yield

$$V(r_{t|t}^{\alpha}) = .033 - .014\alpha + .005\alpha^{2}$$
  

$$V(d_{t|t}^{\alpha}) = .075 - .036\alpha - .003\alpha^{2}$$
  

$$V(d_{t|t+1}^{\alpha}) = .060 - .028\alpha - .004\alpha^{2}.$$

Figure 4 plots these variances in the admissible range  $\alpha \in [0,1]$ , together with (7.14). It is seen how the canonical decomposition with  $n_t$  canonical  $(\alpha = 1)$  minimizes all estimation errors, while the decomposition with canonical seasonal component maximizes them. (Again, this result is valid for any invertible value of  $\theta$  in (7.9).) Table 2 presents the variances of the errors in the concurrent, 1-period revision, and final estimators of the component estimators when moving from the canonical decomposition with  $\alpha = 0$  to the one with  $\alpha = 1$ . Since the two canonical decompositions represent the maximum and minimum values of the estimation error variance, they are bounds for the estimation error variance associated with any other admissible decomposition. Finally, compared to the first example, the revision between the concurrent and final estimator now lasts longer: the first-period revision accounts for roughly 40% of the total revision.

#### 7.3 The "Airline Model"

We consider a class of models, appropriate for monthly or quarterly series, that display trend and seasonality. The model is given by the multiplicative ARIMA expression

$$\nabla \nabla_{\tau} x_t = (1 + \theta_1 B) \left( 1 + \theta_{\tau} B^{\tau} \right) a_t, \tag{7.16}$$

where  $\tau$  is the number of observations per year and, as before,  $V_a = 1$ . Following the work of Box and Jenkins (1970), model (7.16) is often referred to as the "Airline Model".

as in

	Concurrent Estimator	One-period Revision	Final Estimator
$\begin{array}{c} \text{canonical} \\ \text{seasonal component} \\ (\alpha = 0) \end{array}$	.075	.060	.042
$\begin{array}{c} \text{canonical seasonally} \\ \text{adjusted series} \\ (\alpha = 1) \end{array}$	.037	.028	.013

Table 2: QUARTERLY ARIMA EXAMPLE: Estimation Error Variance

On the one hand, it is often encountered in practice; on the other hand, it provides a convenient reference example, since the parameters  $\theta_1$  and  $\theta_{\tau}$  are directly related to the stability of the trend and of the seasonal component. In particular, a value of the parameter  $\theta_1$  (or  $\theta_{\tau}$ ) close to -1 indicates the presence of a stable trend (or seasonal) component. For  $-1 < \theta_1 < 1$  and  $-1 < \theta_{\tau} < \theta^*$ , where  $\theta^*$  is a small positive value (see Figure 6), the model accepts a decomposition of the type (A.5); see Hillmer and Tiao (1982). If the two components decomposition is considered, as in (1.1), with  $s_t$  denoting the seasonal component and  $n_t$  the seasonally adjusted series, then, for an admissible decomposition, the components follow models of the type

$$Us_t^{\alpha} = \theta_s^{\alpha}(B) a_{st}^{\alpha}; \qquad \nabla^2 n_t^{\alpha} = \theta_n^{\alpha}(B) a_{nt}^{\alpha},$$

where  $\theta_s^{\alpha}(B)$  and  $\theta_n^{\alpha}(B)$  are, in general, polynomials in B of order  $\tau - 1$  and 2, respectively.

We have seen earlier that the component estimators with minimum MSE are always obtained with one of the two canonical specifications. Tables 3 and 4 present the final and concurrent estimation error variance associated with the two canonical decompositions, for  $\tau = 12$ , and for different values of  $\theta_1$  and  $\theta_{12}$  within the admissible region. For both types of errors, the variance is large for models whose spectra are dominated by a very stochastic trend (values of  $\theta_1$  close to 1). On the other hand, the estimation error variance is small when the model contains relatively stable components.

An interesting result from Tables 3 and 4 is that, when the error variance is large, the difference between the two canonical decompositions is relatively small; in that case, which canonical decomposition (and more generally, which admissible decomposition) is chosen has little effect on the precision of the estimator. On the contrary, when the error variance is small, the difference between the two decompositions becomes more pronounced.

Comparing Tables 3 and 4, it is further seen that the variance of the final estimation error accounts for (roughly) between 1/3 and 1/2 of the variance of the concurrent estimation error; the revision error is, thus, typically larger than the final estimation error.

Theta(1)	Model Spec.	Theta(12) = 0	1  Theta(12) =25	$1^{\text{Theta}}(12) =5$	Theta(12) =75
.75	Canonical St	.410	.504	.436	.259
	nt	.407	.504	.439	.267
.50	Canonical St Canonical	.308	.377	.327	.195
	nt	.300	.376	.337	.220
.25	Canonical st	.226	.274	.239	.144
	Canonical nt	.210	.271	.255	.190
0	Canonical St Canonical	.164	.197	.173	.106
	nt	.138	.186	.191	.168
25	Canonical St Canonical	.121	.143	.129	.081
11.7	nt	.082	.119	.139	.146
50	Canonical St Canonical	.096	.113	.106	.070
	nt	.042	.070	.095	.118
75	Canonical <sup>St</sup> Canonical	.077	.118	.116	.076
	nt	.019	.036	.054	.074

Table 3: AIRLINE MODEL: Variance of Error in Final Estimator

st: seasonal component

Table 4: AIRLINE MODEL: Variance of Error in Concurrent Estimator

Theta(1)	Model Spec.	Theta $(12) = 0$	Theta(12) =25	Theta(12) =5	Theta(12) =75
.75	Canonical	1.257	1.151	.905	.521
	Canonical nt	1.261	1.157	.913	.532
.50	Canonical St Canonical	.956	.873	.685	.393
	The state	.964	.888	.710	.433
.25	Canonical St	.699	.641	.505	.292
	nt	.710	.665	.551	.369
0	Canonical St Canonical	.491	.458	.367	.215
	The	.498	.483	.426	.327
25	Canonical St	.333	.323	.269	.164
	nt	.326	.336	.324	.292
50	Canonical St Canonical	.228	.239	.214	.139
	nt	.193	.217	.234	.244
75	Canonical St Canonical	.149	.205	.207	.143
	R1	.097	.120	.141	.161

st: seasonal component nt: nonseasonal component

	Concurrent Estimator	12–period Revision	Final Estimator
$ \begin{array}{c} \text{canonical} \\ \text{seasonal component} \\ (\alpha = 0) \end{array} $	.263	.153	.125
canonical seasonally adjusted series $(\alpha = 1)$	.293	.124	.116

Table 5: AIRLINE MODEL: Estimation Error Variance

Using, as an example,  $\theta_1 = -.34$  and  $\theta_{12} = -.42$ , the parameters of expressions (4.4), (5.14), and (5.15) for the decomposition with a canonical seasonal component, can be derived from the overall ARIMA model in a manner similar to that illustrated in the two previous examples. For an admissible decomposition, the variances of the errors can be expressed as

 $V(r_t^{\alpha}) = .138 - .018\alpha + .057\alpha^2$  $V(d_t^{\alpha}) = .263 + .081\alpha - .051\alpha^2$  $V(d_{t|t+12}^{\alpha}) = .153 + .065\alpha - .094\alpha^2$  $V(e_t^{\alpha}) = .125 + .099\alpha - .108\alpha^2,$ 

and they are represented in Figure 5. This example illustrates a case of "switching solutions": while the final estimation error is minimized with the decomposition with canonical seasonally adjusted series, the concurrent estimation error is minimized with the decomposition with a canonical seasonal component. Still, as seen in Table 5, the difference between the errors associated with the two canonical decompositions is relatively small, in particular for the final estimation error case.

For the monthly and quarterly Airline Model, Figure 6 displays the lines that separate the regions of the admissible parameter space where a canonical seasonal minimizes the final and concurrent estimation error, from that where the minimum is achieved with a canonical seasonally adjusted series. The region where a canonical seasonal component provides the most precise estimators is larger for the concurrent estimation error, and the area between the two lines represents the region of switching solutions. What is clearly seen in Figure 6 is that stable trends imply the use of a canonical seasonally adjusted series (i.e., of a canonical trend), while stable seasonals imply the use of a canonical seasonal component. This was to be expected from Assumption 6b and Lemma 10, since more stable components will have smaller central weights in the corresponding WK filter.

# Appendix

**Proof of Lemma 1**: Combining (3.4), (1.6), and (1.7), it is possible to express the estimator  $\hat{s}_t$  in terms of the innovations  $a_t$  of the model for the observed series. After simplification, it is found that

$$\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}(B) \ \hat{s}_t = \theta_{\mathfrak{s}}(B) \ \alpha_{\mathfrak{s}}(F) \ a_t, \tag{A.1}$$

where  $\alpha_s(F)$  is the (convergent) forward filter

$$\alpha_s(F) = V_s \, \frac{\theta_s(F) \, \phi_n(F)}{\theta(F)}.\tag{A.2}$$

An equivalent expression is found for  $\hat{n}_t$  by simply interchanging the subindices s and n. Combining the two expressions and cancelling common factors, it is obtained that

$$C(B,F) = (V_s V_n) \frac{\theta_s(B) \theta_n(B) \theta_s(F) \theta_n(F)}{\theta(B) \theta(F)},$$
(A.3)

which is the ACGF of model (3.6).

**Proof of Lemma 5:** From Lemma 4, ACGF  $(e_t^{\alpha}) = \text{CCGF}(s_t^{\alpha}, n_t^{\alpha})$ . Since the latter can be expressed as  $(A_s^{\alpha}(B,F), A_n^{\alpha}(B,F))/A_x(B,F)$ , considering (4.2),

$$A_{CGF} (e_t^{\alpha}) = \left[ A_s^0(B,F) + \alpha V_u \right] \left[ A_n^0(B,F) - \alpha V_u \right] \left[ A_x(B,F) \right]^{-1} = A_s^0(B,F) A_n^0(B,F) / A_x(B,F) + \left[ 1 - 2A_s^0(B,F) / A_x(B,F) \right] V_u \alpha - \left[ 1 / A_x(B,F) \right] V_u^2 \alpha^2.$$
(A.4)

Equating constant terms in the identity (A.4) directly yields (4.4).

**Proof of Lemma 6**: Expression (4.4) implies that  $V(e_t^{\alpha})$  is a concave function of  $\alpha$ . It follows that, within the interval  $0 \leq \alpha \leq 1$ , the minimum of  $V(e_t^{\alpha})$  will always be at one of the two boundaries. Since  $V(e_t^1) - V(e_t^0) = V_u (1 - 2\nu_{s,0}^0) - V_u^2 h_0$ , under condition (a),  $V(e_t^1) \geq V(e_t^0)$  and  $\alpha = 0$  will provide the minimum; trivially,  $\alpha = 1$  provides the minimum otherwise.

When  $2\nu_{s,0}^0 + V_u h_o = 1$ , then  $V(e_t^0) = V(e_t^1)$ , and both canonical solutions provide the same estimation MSE, and provide thus two minima for  $V(e_t^{\alpha})$ , within the admissible range for  $\alpha$ .

**Proof of Lemma 7**: The series  $x_t$  can always be decomposed as in

$$x_t = s_t^0 + n_t^1 + u_t, (A.5)$$

where  $s_t^0$  and  $n_t^1$  are the two canonical components, and  $u_t$  is white noise with variance  $V_u$ . The WK filter for  $u_t$  is given by

$$\nu_{u}(B,F) = V_{u} \frac{\phi(B) \phi(F)}{\theta(B) \theta(F)} = V_{u} \pi(B) \pi(F), \tag{A.6}$$

equal thus to the ACGF of the inverse model (1.10), scaled by  $V_u$ . It follows that  $V_u h_0$  is the central coefficient of the WK filter for  $u_t$ . Therefore,

$$\nu_{s,0}^1 = \nu_{s,0}^0 + V_u h_0 \tag{A.7}$$

is the central weight of the WK filter associated with the decomposition that assigns all white noise to  $s_t$  (i.e., with the decomposition with  $n_t$  canonical). From Assumption 6a,  $\nu_{s,o}^0 \ge \nu_{n,0}^1$  or, adding  $\nu_{s,0}^0 + V_u h_0$  to both sides of the inequality,

$$2\nu_{s,0}^0 + V_u h_0 \ge \nu_{n,0}^1 + \nu_{s,0}^1, \tag{A.8}$$

where use has been made of (A.7). From  $x_t = \hat{n}_t^1 + \hat{s}_t^1$ , the r.h.s. of (A.8) must equal one, hence we are in case (b) of Lemma 6. (When Assumption (6a), and hence (A.8), holds as an equality, then the two canonical decompositions provide two identical minima of  $V(e_t^{\alpha})$ .)

Proof of Lemma 8: From (3.2), (3.3), and (4.2.a),

$$\nu_{s}^{\alpha}(B,F) = A_{s}^{\alpha}(B,F)/A_{x}(B,F) = \\ = [A_{s}^{0}(B,F) + \alpha V_{u}]/A_{x}(B,F) = \\ = \nu_{s}^{0}(B,F) + \alpha V_{u} h(B,F),$$

where use has been made of  $h(B, F) = 1/A_x(B, F)$ . For the coefficient of  $F^j$ ,

$$\nu_{s,j}^{\alpha} = \nu_{s,j}^{0} + \alpha V_u h_j. \tag{A.9}$$

Substracting (5.1) from (3.2),

$$r_{t|t+k}^{\alpha} = \hat{s}_{t}^{\alpha} - \hat{s}_{t|t+k}^{\alpha} = \sum_{j=k+1}^{\infty} \nu_{s,j}^{\alpha} (x_{t+j} - x_{t+j|t+k}),$$

where use has been made of the fact that  $x_{t+j|t+k} = x_{t+j}$  when  $j \le k$ . Or, using (A.9),

$$r_{t|t+k}^{\alpha} = \sum_{j=k+1}^{\infty} (\nu_{s,j}^{0} + \alpha h_j V_u) (x_{t+j} - x_{t+j|t+k}).$$
(A.10)

The (i - k)-period-ahead forecast error  $\varepsilon(i - k) = x_{t+i} - x_{t+i|t+k}$  can be expressed as

$$\varepsilon(i-k) = \sum_{j=0}^{i-k-1} \psi_j \, a_{t+i-j}, \qquad (\psi_0 = 1), \tag{A.11}$$

and inserting (A.11) in (A.10),

$$r_{t|t+k}^{\alpha} = \sum_{i=k+1}^{\infty} \left[ \left( \nu_{s,i}^{0} + \psi_{1} \, \nu_{s,i+1}^{0} + \ldots \right) a_{t+i} + \alpha \, V_{u}(\pi_{i} + \psi_{1} \, \pi_{i+1} + \ldots) \, a_{t+i} \right], \tag{A.12}$$

Define

$$\ell_i = \nu_{s,i}^0 + \psi_1 \nu_{s,i+1}^0 + \psi_2 \nu_{s,i+2}^0 + \dots, \qquad (A.13)$$

$$m_{i} = \pi_{i} + \psi_{1} \pi_{i+1} + \psi_{2} \pi_{i+2} + \dots, \qquad (A.14)$$

$$\ell_t = \sum_{i=k+1}^{\infty} \ell_i \, a_{t+i}, \tag{A.15}$$

$$m_t = \sum_{i=k+1}^{\infty} m_i a_{t+i},$$
 (A.16)

Then, we can write

$$V(r_{t|t+k}^{\alpha}) = V(\ell_t) + 2\alpha V_u \operatorname{Cov}(\ell_t, m_t) + \alpha^2 V_u^2 V(m_t).$$
(A.17)

Setting  $\alpha = 0$ ,  $V(\ell_t)$  is the variance of the revision in the canonical specification of the component, that is

$$V(\ell_t) = V(r_{t|t+k}^0).$$
(A.18)

From (A.16),  $V(m_t) = \sum_{i=k+1}^{\infty} m_i^2$ , where, according to (A.14),  $m_i$  is the coefficient of  $F^i$  in the polynomial  $h(B, F) \psi(B)$ . Given that  $\psi(B) = 1/\pi(B)$ , from (1.10),  $m_i = \pi_i$ . Thus

$$V(m_t) = h_0 - h_0(k). \tag{A.19}$$

Finally, Cov  $(\ell_t, m_t) = \sum_{i=k+1}^{\infty} \ell_i m_i = \sum_{i=k+1}^{\infty} \pi_i \ell_i$ . From (A.13) and (5.10.b), it is seen that  $\ell_i$  is the coefficient of  $F^i$  in  $\xi_s^0(B, F)$ , or Cov  $(\ell_t, m_t) = \sum_{i=k+1}^{\infty} \pi_i \xi_{s,i}^0$ . Using (5.11) and (5.12), it follows that

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(\ell_{t}, m_{t}\right) = \nu_{s,0}^{0} - \nu_{s,0}^{0}(k). \tag{A.20}$$

Plugging (A.18), (A.19), and (A.20) in (A.17),

$$V(r_{t|t+k}^{\alpha}) = V(r_{t|t+k}^{0}) + 2\left[\nu_{s,0}^{0} - \nu_{s,0}^{0}(k)\right] V_{u} \alpha + \left[h_{0} - h_{0}(k)\right] V_{u}^{2} \alpha^{2}.$$

**Proof of Lemma 9:**  $V(r_{t|t+k}^{\alpha})$  is a parabole with positive constant term. Since, by construction, the coefficient of  $\alpha^2$  is positive, over the range  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ ,  $V(r_t^{\alpha})$  is a positive, convex, function and will, as a consequence, display a maximum at one of the boundary values  $\alpha = 0$  or  $\alpha = 1$ . By comparing  $V(r_t^0)$  and  $V(r_t^1)$ , conditions (a) and (b) of the Lemma are immediately obtained.

**Proof of Lemma 11:** As a function of  $\alpha$ , since  $h_0(k) > 0$ ,  $V(d_{t|t+k}^{\alpha})$  is a concave parabole, and within the interval  $0 \le \alpha \le 1$ , it will display a minimum at one of the two boundaries. By comparing the values of (5.15) for  $\alpha = 0$  and  $\alpha = 1$ , conditions (a) and (b) are obtained.

Proof of Lemma 12: Inserting (3.1) in (5.2),

$$\hat{s}_{t|t+k} = \nu_s(B, F, k) \,\psi(B) \,a_t, \tag{A.21}$$

where the superscript  $\alpha$  has been deleted for notational simplicity. Taking conditional expectations at time T = t + k, expression (5.3) yields

$$\hat{s}_{t|t+k} = \xi_{\delta}(B, F, k)a_t, \tag{A.22}$$

where  $\xi_{\delta}(B, F, k)$  is the filter  $\xi_{\delta}(B, F)$  truncated at  $F^{k}$ , and use has been made of the property  $E_{t+k} a_{T} = 0$  when T > t + k. Comparing (A.21) and (A.22), it is seen that

$$\nu_{s}(B, F, k) = \xi_{s}(B, F, k)\pi(B). \tag{A.23}$$

Equating the coefficients of  $B^0$  at both sides of the identity (A.23), if  $w_0$  denotes that of the l.h.s.,

$$w_0 = \sum_{i=0}^k \xi_{s,i} \,\pi_i. \tag{A.24}$$

For the canonical specification of  $s_t$ , (5.12) and (A.24) imply  $w_0 = \nu_{s,0}^0(k)$ . Part (b) is proved in an identical manner, by noticing that (5.17) and (A.6) imply

$$\hat{u}_{t|t+k} = a_t + \pi_1 \, a_{t+1} + \ldots + \pi_k \, a_{t+k} = \pi(F, k) \, a_t,$$

and hence  $\xi_u(B,F,k) = \pi(F,k)$ .

**Proof of Lemma 13**: Using the decomposition (A.5), the lemma is proved in the same way as Lemma 7, replacing the  $\nu$  - by the  $\nu(k)$ -coefficients, and  $h_0$  by  $h_0(k)$ . Then, condition (b) of Lemma 11 is seen to be satisfied.

Fig. 1 : SERIES















-41-



Fig. 6 : CANONICAL SOLUTION THA'T MINIMIZES THE ESTIMATION

- - Border line for concurrent estimation error variance

## References

BELL, W.R. (1984), "Signal Extraction for Nonstationary Time Series", Annals of Statistics 12, 646-664.

- BELL, W.R. and HILLMER, S.C. (1984), "Issues Involved with the Seasonal Adjustment of Economic Time Series", Journal of Business and Economic Statistics 2, 291–320.
- BOX, G.E.P., HILLMER, S.C. and TIAO, G.C. (1978), "Analysis and Modeling of Seasonal Time Series", in Zellner, A. (ed.), Seasonal Analysis of Economic Time Series, Washington, D.C.: U.S. Dept. of Commerce — Bureau of the Census, 309-334.
- BOX, G.E.P. and JENKINS, G.M. (1970), Time Series Analysis: Forecasting and Control, San Francisco: Holden-Day.
- BUREAU OF THE CENSUS (1995), X-12-ARIMA Reference Manual, Washington, D.C.: U.S. Bureau of the Census, April 1995.
- BURMAN, J.P. (1980), "Seasonal Adjustment by Signal Extraction", Journal of the Royal Statistical Society A, 143, 321-337.
- BURRIDGE, P. and WALLIS, K.F. (1985), "Calculating the Variance of Seasonally Adjusted Series", Journal of the American Statistical Association 80, 541-552.
- CLEVELAND, W.P. and TIAO, G.C. (1976), "Decomposition of Seasonal Time Series: A Model for the X-11 Program", Journal of the American Statistical Association 71, 581-587.
- ENGLE, R.F. (1978), "Estimating Structural Models of Seasonality", in Zellner, A. (ed.), Seasonal Analysis of Economic Time Series, Washington, D.C.: U.S. Dept. of Commerce — Bureau of the Census, 281-297.
- EUROSTAT (1994), Methodology of Industrial Short Term Indicators; Rules and Recommendations, Luxembourg: EUROSTAT, September 1994.
- FINDLEY, D.F. (1985), "An Analysis and Generalization of M. Watson's Minimax Procedure for Determining the Component Estimates of a Seasonal Time Series", Washington, D.C.: Statistical Research Division, U.S. Bureau of the Census.
- FINDLEY, D.F. and MONSELL, B.C. (1995), "New Features of the X-12-ARIMA Seasonal Adjustment Package", Washington, D.C.: Statistical Research Division, U.S. Bureau of the Census.
- FISHER, B. (1995), Decomposition of Time Series: Comparing Different Methods in Theory and Practice, version 2.1, Luxembourg: EUROSTAT, April 1995.
- GARCÍA FERRER, A. and DEL HOYO, J. (1992), "On Trend Extraction Models: Interpretation, Empirical Evidence and Forecasting Performance", Journal of Forecasting 11, 645-665.
- GÓMEZ, V. and MARAVALL, A. (1994), "Estimation, Prediction and Interpolation for Nonstationary Series with the Kalman Filter", Journal of the American Statistical Association 89, 611-624.
- GRANGER, C.W.J. (1978), "Seasonality: Causation, Interpretation and Implications", in Zellner, A. (ed.), Seasonal Analysis of Economic Time Series, Washington, D.C.: U.S. Dept. of Commerce — Bureau of the Census, 33-46.
- HARVEY, A.C. (1989), Forecasting, Structural Time Series Models and the Kalman Filter, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- HILLMER, S.C. (1985), "Measures of Variability for Model-Based Seasonal Adjustment Procedures", Journal of Business and Economic Statistics 3, 60-68.
- HILLMER, S.C. and TIAO, G.C. (1982), "An ARIMA-Model Based Approach to Seasonal Adjustment", Journal of the American Statistical Association 77, 63-70.
- HOTTA, L.K. (1989), "Identification of Unobserved Components Models", Journal of Time Series Analysis 10, 259-270.
- KOHN, R. and ANSLEY, C.F. (1986), "Estimation, Prediction and Interpolation for ARIMA Models with Missing Data", Journal of the American Statistical Association 81, 751-761.
- MARAVALL, A. (1986), "Revisions in ARIMA Signal Extraction", Journal of the American Statistical Association 81, 736-740.
- MARAVALL, A. (1988), "A Note on Minimum Mean Squared Error Estimation of Signals with Unit Roots", Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control 12, 589-593.

- MARAVALL, A. and MATHIS, A. (1994), "Encompassing Univariate Models in Multivariate Time Series: A Case Study", Journal of Econometrics 61, 197-233.
- NERLOVE, M. (1964), "Spectral Analysis of Seasonal Adjustment Procedures", Econometrica 32, 241-286.
- PIERCE, D.A. (1978), "Seasonal Adjustment when Both Deterministic and Stochastic Seasonality are Present", in Zellner, A. (ed.), Seasonal Analysis of Economic Time Series, Washington, D.C.: U.S. Dept. of Commerce — Bureau of the Census, 242-269.
- PIERCE, D.A. (1979), "Signal Extraction Error in Nonstationary Time Series", Annals of Statistics 7, 1303-1320.
- PIERCE, D.A. (1980), "Data Revisions in Moving Average Seasonal Adjustment Procedures", Journal of Econometrics 14, 95-114.
- STOCK, J.H. and WATSON, M.W. (1988), "Variable Trends in Economic Time Series", Journal of Economic Perspectives 2, 147-174.

THEIL, H. (1971), Principles of Econometrics, New York: J. Wiley and Sons.

- WATSON, M.W. (1987), "Uncertainty in Model-Based Seasonal Adjustment Procedures and Construction of Minimax Filters", Journal of the American Statistical Association 82, 395-408.
- WHITTLE, P. (1963), Prediction and Regulation by Linear Least-Squares Methods, London: English Universities Press.

#### WORKING PAPERS (1)

- 9310 Amparo Ricardo Ricardo: Series históricas de contabilidad nacional y mercado de trabajo para la CE y EEUU: 1960-1991.
- 9311 Fernando Restoy and G. Michael Rockinger: On stock market returns and returns on investment.
- 9312 Jesús Saurina Salas: Indicadores de solvencia bancaria y contabilidad a valor de mercado.
- 9313 Isabel Argimón, José Manuel González-Páramo, María Jesús Martín and José María Roldán: Productivity and infrastructure in the Spanish economy. (The Spanish original of this publication has the same number.)
- 9314 Fernando Ballabriga, Miguel Sebastián and Javier Vallés: Interdependence of EC economies: A VAR approach.
- 9315 Isabel Argimón y M.<sup>a</sup> Jesús Martín: Serie de «stock» de infraestructuras del Estado y de las Administraciones Públicas en España.
- 9316 P. Martínez Méndez: Fiscalidad, tipos de interés y tipo de cambio.
- 9317 **P. Martínez Méndez:** Efectos sobre la política económica española de una fiscalidad distorsionada por la inflación.
- 9318 **Pablo Antolín and Olympia Bover:** Regional Migration in Spain: The effect of Personal Characteristics and of Unemployment, Wage and House Price Differentials Using Pooled Cross-Sections.
- 9319 Samuel Bentolila y Juan J. Dolado: La contratación temporal y sus efectos sobre la competitividad.
- 9320 Luis Julián Álvarez, Javier Jareño y Miguel Sebastián: Salarios públicos, salarios privados e inflación dual.
- 9321 Ana Revenga: Credibility and inflation persistence in the European Monetary System. (The Spanish original of this publication has the same number.)
- 9322 María Pérez Jurado and Juan Luis Vega: Purchasing power parity: An empirical analysis. (The Spanish original of this publication has the same number.)
- 9323 Ignacio Hernando y Javier Vallés: Productividad sectorial: comportamiento cíclico en la economía española.
- 9324 Juan J. Dolado, Miguel Sebastián and Javier Vallés: Cyclical patterns of the Spanish economy.
- 9325 Juan Ayuso y José Luis Escrivá: La evolución del control monetario en España.
- 9326 Alberto Cabrero Bravo e Isabel Sánchez García: Métodos de predicción de los agregados monetarios.
- 9327 Cristina Mazón: Is profitability related to market share? An intra-industry study in Spanish manufacturing.
- 9328 Esther Gordo y Pilar L'Hotellerie: La competitividad de la industria española en una perspectiva macroeconómica.
- 9329 Ana Buisán y Esther Gordo: El saldo comercial no energético español: determinantes y análisis de simulación (1964-1992).
- 9330 Miguel Pellicer: Functions of the Banco de España: An historical perspective.
- 9401 Carlos Ocaña, Vicente Salas y Javier Vallés: Un análisis empírico de la financiación de la pequeña y mediana empresamanufacturera española: 1983-1989.
- 9402 P.G. Fisher and J.L. Vega: An empirical analysis of M4 in the United Kingdom.
- 9403 J. Ayuso, A. G. Haldane and F. Restoy: Volatility transmission along the money market yield curve.
- 9404 Gabriel Quirós: El mercado británico de deuda pública.

- 9405 Luis J. Álvarez and Fernando C. Ballabriga: BVAR models in the context of cointegration: A Monte Carlo experiment.
- 9406 Juan José Dolado, José Manuel González-Páramo y José M.\* Roldán: Convergencia económica entre las provincias españolas: evidencia empírica (1955-1989).
- 9407 Ángel Estrada e Ignacio Hernando: La inversión en España: un análisis desde el lado de la oferta.
- 9408 Ángel Estrada García, M.<sup>a</sup> Teresa Sastre de Miguel y Juan Luis Vega Croissier: El mecanismo de transmisión de los tipos de interés: el caso español.
- 9409 **Pilar García Perea y Ramón Gómez:** Elaboración de series históricas de empleo a partir de la Encuesta de Población Activa (1964-1992).
- 9410 **F. J. Sáez Pérez de la Torre, J. M.<sup>a</sup> Sánchez Sáez y M.<sup>a</sup> T. Sastre de Miguel:** Los mercados de operaciones bancarias en España: especialización productiva y competencia.
- 9411 Olympia Bover and Ángel Estrada: Durable consumption and house purchases: Evidence from Spanish panel data.
- 9412 José Viñals: Building a Monetary Union in Europe: Is it worthwhile, where do we stand, and where are we going? (The Spanish original of this publication has the same number.)
- 9413 Carlos Chuliá: Los sistemas financieros nacionales y el espacio financiero europeo.
- 9414 José Luis Escrivá and Andrew G. Haldane: The interest rate transmission mechanism: Sectoral estimates for Spain. (The Spanish original of this publication has the same number.)
- 9415 M.ª de los Llanos Matea y Ana Valentina Regil: Métodos para la extracción de señales y para la trimestralización. Una aplicación: Trimestralización del deflactor del consumo privado nacional.
- 9416 José Antonio Cuenca: Variables para el estudio del sector monetario. Agregados monetarios y crediticios, y tipos de interés sintéticos.
- 9417 Ángel Estrada y David López-Salido: La relación entre el consumo y la renta en España: un modelo empírico con datos agregados.
- 9418 José M. González Mínguez: Una aplicación de los indicadores de discrecionalidad de la política fiscal a los países de la UE.
- 9419 Juan Ayuso, María Pérez Jurado and Fernando Restoy: Is exchange rate risk higher in the E.R.M. after the widening of fluctuation bands? (The Spanish original of this publication has the same number.)
- 9420 Simon Milner and David Metcaff: Spanish pay setting institutions and performance outcomes.
- 9421 Javier Santillán: El SME, los mercados de divisas y la transición hacia la Unión Monetaria.
- 9422 Juan Luis Vega: Is the ALP long-run demand function stable? (The Spanish original of this publication has the same number.)
- 9423 Gabriel Quirós: El mercado italiano de deuda pública.
- 9424 Isabel Argimón, José Manuel González-Páramo y José María Roldán: Inversión privada, gasto público y efecto expulsión: evidencia para el caso español.
- 9425 Charles Goodhart and José Viñals: Strategy and tactics of monetary policy: Examples from Europe and the Antipodes.
- 9426 Carmen Melcón: Estrategias de política monetaria basadas en el seguimiento directo de objetivos de inflación. Las experiencias de Nueva Zelanda, Canadá, Reino Unido y Suecia.
- 9427 Olympia Bover and Manuel Arellano: Female labour force participation in the 1980s: the case of Spain.

- 9428 Juan María Peñalosa: The Spanish catching-up process: General determinants and contribution of the manufacturing industry.
- 9429 Susana Núñez: Perspectivas de los sistemas de pagos: una reflexión crítica.
- 9430 José Viñals: ¿Es posible la convergencia en España?: En busca del tiempo perdido.
- 9501 Jorge Blázquez y Miguel Sebastián: Capital público y restricción presupuestaria gubernamental.
- 9502 Ana Buisán: Principales determinantes de los ingresos por turismo.
- 9503 Ana Buisán y Esther Gordo: La protección nominal como factor determinante de las importaciones de bienes.
- 9504 **Ricardo Mestre:** A macroeconomic evaluation of the Spanish monetary policy transmission mechanism.
- 9505 Fernando Restoy and Ana Revenga: Optimal exchange rate flexibility in an economy with intersectoral rigidities and nontraded goods.
- 9506 Ángel Estrada and Javier Vallés: Investment and financial costs: Spanish evidence with panel data. (The Spanish original of this publication has the same number.)
- 9507 Francisco Alonso: La modelización de la volatilidad del mercado bursátil español.
- 9508 Francisco Alonso y Fernando Restoy: La remuneración de la volatilidad en el mercado español de renta variable.
- 9509 Fernando C. Ballabriga, Miguel Sebastián y Javier Vallés: España en Europa: asimetrías reales y nominales.
- 9510 Juan Carlos Casado, Juan Alberto Campoy y Carlos Chuliá: La regulación financiera española desde la adhesión a la Unión Europea.
- 9511 Juan Luis Díaz del Hoyo y A. Javier Prado Domínguez: Los FRAs como guías de las expectativas del mercado sobre tipos de interés.
- 9512 José M.<sup>a</sup> Sánchez Sáez y Teresa Sastre de Miguel: ¿Es el tamaño un factor explicativo de las diferencias entre entidades bancarias?
- 9513 Juan Ayuso y Soledad Núñez: ¿Desestabilizan los activos derivados el mercado al contado?: La experiencia española en el mercado de deuda pública.
- 9514 M.º Cruz Manzano Frías y M.º Teresa Sastre de Miguel: Factores relevantes en la determinación del margen de explotación de bancos y cajas de ahorros.
- 9515 Fernando Restoy and Philippe Weil: Approximate equilibrium asset prices.
- 9516 Gabriel Quirós: El mercado francés de deuda pública.
- 9517 Ana L. Revenga and Samuel Bentolila: What affects the employment rate intensity of growth?
- 9518 Ignacio Iglesias Araúzo y Jaime Esteban Velasco: Repos y operaciones simultáneas: estudio de la normativa.
- 9519 Ignacio Fuentes: Las instituciones bancarias españolas y el Mercado Único.
- 9520 Ignacio Hernando: Política monetaria y estructura financiera de las empresas.
- 9521 Luis Julián Álvarez y Miguel Sebastián: La inflación latente en España: una perspectiva macroeconómica.
- 9522 Soledad Núñez Ramos: Estimación de la estructura temporal de los tipos de interés en España: elección entre métodos alternativos.
- 9523 Isabel Argimón, José M. González-Páramo y José M.<sup>a</sup> Roldán Alegre: Does public spending crowd out private investment? Evidence from a panel of 14 OECD countries.

- 9524 Luis Julián Álvarez, Fernando C. Ballabriga y Javier Jareño: Un modelo macroeconométrico trimestral para la economía española.
- 9525 Aurora Alejano y Juan M.<sup>a</sup> Peñalosa: La integración financiera de la economía española: efectos sobre los mercados financieros y la política monetaria.
- 9526 **Ramón Gómez Salvador y Juan J. Dolado:** Creación y destrucción de empleo en España: un análisis descriptivo con datos de la CBBE.
- 9527 Santiago Fernández de Lis y Javier Santillán: Regímenes cambiarios e integración monetaria en Europa.
- 9528 Gabriel Quirós: Mercados financieros alemanes.
- 9529 Juan Ayuso Huertas: Is there a trade-off between exchange rate risk and interest rate risk? (The Spanish original of this publication has the same number.)
- 9530 Fernando Restoy: Determinantes de la curva de rendimientos: hipótesis expectacional y primas de riesgo.
- 9531 Juan Ayuso and María Pérez Jurado: Devaluations and depreciation expectations in the EMS.
- 9532 Paul Schulstad and Ángel Serrat: An Empirical Examination of a Multilateral Target Zone Model.
- 9601 Juan Ayuso, Soledad Núñez and María Pérez-Jurado: Volatility in Spanish financial markets: The recent experience.
- 9602 **Javier Andrés e Ignacio Hernando:** ¿Cómo afecta la inflación al crecimiento económico? Evidencia para los países de la OCDE.
- 9603 **Barbara Dluhosch:** On the fate of newcomers in the European Union: Lessons from the Spanish experience.
- 9604 Santiago Fernández de Lis: Classifications of Central Banks by Autonomy: A comparative analysis.
- 9605 M.ª Cruz Manzano Frías y Sofía Galmés Belmonte: Políticas de precios de las entidades de crédito y tipo de clientela: efectos sobre el mecanismo de transmisión.
- 9606 Malte Krüger: Speculation, Hedging and Intermediation in the Foreign Exchange Market.
- 9607 Agustín Maravall: Short-Term Analysis of Macroeconomic Time Series.
- 9608 Agustín Maravall and Christophe Planas: Estimation Error and the Specification of Unobserved Component Models.

(1) Previously published Working Papers are listed in the Banco de España publications catalogue.

Queries should be addressed to: Banco de España Sección de Publicaciones. Negociado de Distribución y Gestión Telephone: 338 51 80 Alcalá, 50. 28014 Madrid